Public Document Pack
PLANNING AND BUILDING
STANDARDS COMMITTEE
MONDAY, 28TH JUNE, 2021
A MEETING of the PLANNING AND BUILDING STANDARDS COMMITTEE will be held on
MONDAY, 28TH JUNE, 2021 at 10.00 AM. VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS. The meeting will be live
streamed to the public and a link will be on the Council Website.

J. J. WILKINSON,
Clerk to the Council,
21 June 2021

BUSINESS
1.

Apologies for Absence.

2.

Order of Business.

3.

Declarations of Interest.

4.

Minute. (Pages 3 - 8)
Minute of Meeting 31 May 2021 to be approved and signed by the Chairman. (Copy
attached.)

5.

Applications.
Consider the following application for planning permission:(a)

Land South and West of Swinton Primary School (Phase 2), Coldstream Road,
Swinton - 18/01541/FUL (Pages 9 - 26)
Erection of 13 No dwellinghouses and associated infrastructure. (Copy attached.)

(b)

Land East of Thirlstane Castle, Lauder - 20/01355/FUL (Pages 27 - 56)
Erection of eight holiday lodges, installation of ground based solar panel array and
formation of associated access and parking. (Copy attached.)

6.

Appeals and Reviews. (Pages 57 - 62)
Consider report by Service Director Regulatory Services. (Copy attached.)

7.

Any Other Items Previously Circulated.

8.

Any Other Items which the Chairman Decides are Urgent.

NOTE
Members are reminded that, if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in any item
of business coming before the meeting, that interest should be declared prior to
commencement of discussion on that item. Such declaration will be recorded in the Minute
of the meeting.
Members are reminded that any decisions taken by the Planning and Building Standards
Committee are quasi judicial in nature. Legislation , case law and the Councillors Code of
Conduct require that Members :
 Need to ensure a fair proper hearing
 Must avoid any impression of bias in relation to the statutory decision making process
 Must take no account of irrelevant matters
 Must not prejudge an application,
 Must not formulate a final view on an application until all available information is to
hand and has been duly considered at the relevant meeting
 Must avoid any occasion for suspicion and any appearance of improper conduct
 Must not come with a pre prepared statement which already has a conclusion

Membership of Committee:- Councillors S. Mountford (Chair), N. Richards, A. Anderson,
J. A. Fullarton, S. Hamilton, H. Laing, D. Moffat, C. Ramage and E. Small

Please direct any enquiries to Fiona Henderson 01835 826502
fhenderson@scotborders.gov.uk

Agenda Item 4

SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL
PLANNING AND BUILDING STANDARDS COMMITTEE
MINUTE of Meeting of the PLANNING AND
BUILDING STANDARDS COMMITTEE held
via Microsoft Teams on Monday, 31 May
2021 at 10.00 a.m.

Present:-

Councillors S Mountford (Chairman), A. Anderson, J. Fullarton, S.
Hamilton, H. Laing, D. Moffat, C. Ramage, N. Richards, E. Small.

In Attendance:- Planning and Development Standards Manager, Lead Planning Officer (B.
Fotheringham), Senior Roads Planning Officer, Solicitor (Fraser Rankine),
Democratic Services Team Leader, Democratic Services Officer (F.
Henderson).

1.

MINUTE
There had been circulated copies of the Minute of the Meeting held on 26 April 2021.
DECISION
APPROVED for signature by the Chairman.

2.

APPLICATION
There had been circulated copies of a report by the Chief Planning and Housing Officer on
applications for planning permission requiring consideration by the Committee.
DECISION
DEALT with the application as detailed in Appendix l to this Minute.
MEMBER
Councillor Anderson left the meeting.

3.

APPEALS AND REVIEWS
There had been circulated copies of a briefing note by the Chief Planning Officer on Appeals
to the Scottish Ministers and Local Reviews. Mr Fotheringham advised that, following
feedback from a member of the public that the summary in respect of 20/00067/FUL Land
North West of Willowdean House, Foulden was incomplete, an amended summary had been
included.
DECISION
NOTED that:(a)

Appeals had been dismissed in respect of:(i)

the Erection of 22 dwelling houses with new access road and associated
work on Land East of Knapdale, 54 Edinburgh Road, Peebles –
20/00753/FUL; and

(ii) the Erection of 52 holiday lodges with office reception, shop and formation of
associated roads and parking on Land North West of Willowdean House,
Foulden – 20/00067/FUL
(b)

There remained one appeal previously reported on which a decision was still
awaited when the report was prepared on 20 May 2021 and related to the site at:

Page 3


(c)

review requests had been received in respect of:(i)

replacement windows and door at Linden, Causewayend, Ancrum –
20/00962/FUL;

(ii)

the Erection of dwelling houses with associated access on site East of
Dogcraig Cottage, Scotsmill, Peebles – 20/01350/PPP;

(iii)

erection of dwelling house on Land East of the Bungalow, Edington,
Chirnside – 21/00045/FUL;

(iv)

erection of dwelling house on Land West of the Old Barn Westware, West
Linton – 21/00295/PPP;

(d)

The decision of the appointed Officer had been upheld in respect of the erection
of boundary fence (retrospective) at 1 Raeburn Lane, Selkirk – 20/01234/FUL

(e)

There remained one review previously reported on which a decision was still
awaited when the report was prepared on 20 May 2021 and related to the site at:


(f)

4.1

4.2

Angling Club, 5 Sandbed, Hawick

There remained one S36 PLI previously reported on which a decision was still
awaited when the report was prepared on 20 May 2021 and related to:

4.

Land West of 8 Ballantyne Place, Peebles

Crystal Rigg Wind Farm, Cranshaws, Duns

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE: TWEEDBANK – VISION FOR GROWTH
AND SUSTAINABILITY – A COMMUNITY FOR THE FUTURE & DELIVERING
DEVELOPMENT QUALITY- DESIGN GUIDE
The Chief Planning Officer, Mr Aikman accompanied by Mrs Ruthven, Planning officer
presented the report by the Executive Director Corporate Improvement & Economy, which
had previously been circulated and explained that a 34ha site was allocated within the
Council’s adopted Local Development Plan (LDP) 2016 to the north of Tweedbank for mixed
use development which included housing and business uses. The site was incorporated into
the LDP as part of Supplementary Guidance (SG) on Housing, as required by the Planning
and Environmental Appeals Division of the Scottish Government following Examination of the
LDP. The Housing SG was approved by the Council and was cleared by Scottish Ministers
in November 2017. The LDP stipulated the requirement for Supplementary Planning
Guidance (SPG) to be provided for the site. The purpose of the SPG was to set out the
Council’s vision for the site and gives greater clarity on measures to achieve a high quality
development. This included identifying site constraints to be addressed, the identification of
zones for specific uses, indicative housing densities for the residential zones, a possible area
for a care home facility, placemaking and design guidance and a pre-application checklist.
A draft version of the SPG was approved by the Council in January 2020 as the basis for
consultation. A 12 week public consultation followed thereafter which included a public
exhibition in the Tweedbank Community Centre. All representations received during the
consultation period were summarised in a table within Appendix B along with Officer
responses to the representations submitted. The table also confirmed changes to the SPG
proposed by Officers in response to the representations received and the consequent
amended version of the SPG was included in Appendix A to the report.

Page 4

4.3

Although the Draft SPG incorporated a section on placemaking and design it was considered
this should be expanded upon and consequently a Design Guide had been prepared which
gave more detailed advice along with good practice examples and references other related
material considerations.
The Guide would help ensure a high quality sustainable
development which was sensitively designed within the attractive landscape setting of the
site and met the Councils aspirations for a high quality community for the future. The Design
Guide was attached as Appendix C to the report.

4.4

In considering the purchase of Lowood Estate it had been agreed that all future strategic
decisions relating to the Estate would be considered by Council. Consequently the final
approval of the SPG / Design Guide required to be made by Council. At the meeting of the
Council in January 2020 it was agreed that at the conclusion of the consultation period all
consultation responses and any proposed consequential amendments to the
Draft SPG would be reported initially to the Planning and Building Standards Committee for
their review and comment. Thereafter the SPG and any comments from the Planning &
Building Standards Committee would be reported to the Council. It was therefore proposed
to submit the SPG and associated Design Guide to Council at its meeting on 17th June
2021. Once approved by the Council the SPG and the Design Guide would be significant
material considerations in guiding planning applications for the development of the site.

4.5

A number of decision had been taken by the Council in respect of the purchase of the
Lowood Estate and the terms of the Full Business Case for the Edinburgh & South East
Scotland City Region City Deal, which allowed draw down of £15m of funding for the Central
Borders Innovation Park that had an interrelationship with the proposed SPG. However, this
report solely focussed on the Planning Guidance that would help shape development on the
site and ensure that it became an integral part of Tweedbank. Further reports on the
Development and Marketing Strategy would be forthcoming later in the year. The Committee
were very positive about the report and commended Officers for their hard work in putting it
together. Mr Aikman and Mrs Ruthven answered Members questions on Education, the
proposed care village and the importance of a community area. Members requested a site
visit when Covid restrictions allowed.
DECISION
(a)

NOTED the officer responses to the representations received and the
consequent proposed amendments to the SPG as set out in Appendix B to the
report.

(b)

APPROVED for submission to Council:(i)
(ii)

(c)
5.
5.1

the Supplementary Planning Guidance set out in Appendix A to the
report; and
the Design Guide set out in Appendix C of the report.

AGREED that a site visit be arranged, once Covid restrictions allowed.

TECHNICAL PAPER: PLANNING (SCOTLAND) Act 2019 – NATIONAL PLANNING
FRAMEWORK 4 (NPF4): HOUSING LAND REQUIREMENT CONSULTATION
There had been circulated copies of a report which sought approval for the response to the
Scottish Government’s consultation on the proposed housing numbers/targets and
methodology for their calculation to be incorporated in the draft National Planning Framework
4 (NPF4), which was scheduled for publication in Autumn 2021.

5.2 The response was an interim measure and there would be further opportunities to review and
confirm the final figure in due course as a result of the publication of the draft NPF4 and the
production of guiding documents yet to be finalised such as the Housing Need and Demand
Assessment 3 (HNDA). The deadline for the response to be submitted to Scottish

Page 5

Government was 4 June 2021. The Principal Officer, Plans and Research answered
Members questions.
DECISION
AGREED the proposed response to amend the initial default estimates contained
within the Scottish Government’s consultation to increase the housing land
requirement to be 440 units per annum with a 10 year requirement of land for 4,400
homes.

The meeting concluded at 11.30 a.m.

Page 6

APPENDIX I
APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMISSION
Reference
20/01024/FUL

Nature of Development
Erection of 2 glamping pods

Location
Land North West of
Drummonds Hall, Lauder

Decision: Approved subject to the approval of Scottish Ministers and the following conditions
and informatives:
1.

The development hereby approved shall be occupied for holiday use only and shall not
be used as a person's sole or main residence or as temporary or permanent residential
accommodation. The occupation of the holiday units shall be restricted to genuine
holidaymakers for individual periods not exceeding 4 weeks in total within any
consecutive period of 13 weeks. The operator shall maintain an up-to-date register of
the names of all holiday makers staying in the holiday units and their main home
addresses. This information shall be made available for inspection at all reasonable
times by an authorised officer of the Planning Authority.
Reason: The accommodation on the site is not designed for permanent occupation and
permanent residential use would be contrary to the council's housing in the countryside
policies.

2.

Prior to the development becoming operational the junction of the private access with
the A697 to be improved to the following specification: the bellmouth at the junction to be
widened to 5.5m with 8m radii and surfaced for the first 5m.
Reason: To allow two vehicles to pass within the bellmouth and prevent vehicles looking
to turn into the junction having to wait on the A class road should another vehicles be
emerging from the access, thereby ensuring the free flow of traffic on the A class public
road, in the interests of road safety.

3.

Prior to the development becoming operational the private access to the site to be
upgraded to provide a smooth running surface capable of withstanding 14 tonne axle
loading and the passing place on the private access to be extended so as to be 6m long
with 6m tapers on either side to provide an overall road width of 5.5m.
Reason: To the private access is of a standard suitable for serving the development
proposed.

4.

A maintenance programme for clearing the flood arch at the bridge and for clearance of
fallen or leaning trees upstream and downstream of the bridge, including a timetable for
the works, to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority before
the development commences. The requirements within the maintenance programme
then to be carried out in accordance with the approved timetable.
Reason: To mitigate potential flood risk at the site.

5.

A maintenance programme for the road, including the clearance of the existing drainage
grille at the bottom of the road and a timetable for these works, to be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Planning Authority before the development commences. The
requirements within the maintenance programme then to be carried out in accordance
with the approved timetable.
Reason: To mitigate potential flood risk at the site.

6.

Details of any proposed signage within or around the site to be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Planning Authority before the signage is erected (location,

Page 7

dimensions, material, design, colours and method of illumination). The signage then to
be erected in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect the visual amenities of the area.
7.

No development shall commence until a report, by a suitably qualified person, has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority, demonstrating the
provision of an adequate water supply to the development in terms of quality, quantity
and the impacts of this proposed supply on surrounding supplies or properties. The
provisions of the approved report shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the
buildings hereby approved.
Reason: To ensure that the development is adequately serviced with water without a
detrimental effect on the water supplies of surrounding properties.

8.

None of the buildings hereby approved shall be occupied until the foul water drainage
arrangements, shown on the approved plans, have been completed and are operational.
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory arrangements are made for the disposal of surface
foul water.

9.

Notwithstanding the description of the materials in the application, no development shall
be commenced until precise details of the materials to be used in the construction of the
external walls and roofs of the buildings have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority, and thereafter no development shall take place except
in strict accordance with those details.
Reason: The materials require further consideration to ensure a satisfactory form of
development, which contributes appropriately to its setting.

10. No development shall commence until an accurate and detailed site plan is first
submitted to and approved in writing by the planning authority. The development shall
be located a minimum of 10 metres from the riverbank of the Earnscleugh Water in
accordance with SNH guidance River Tweed SAC and SSSI Guidance for Planners and
Developers (2017). Thereafter, no development shall take place except in strict
accordance with the approved plan.
Reason: To protect the ecological interest in accordance with Local Development Plan
policies EP1, EP2 and EP3.

Informatives
1.

In respect of condition 2, it should be borne in mind that only contractors first approved
by the Council may work within the public road boundary.

2.

In respect of condition 6, the signs may require Advertisement Consent depending upon
the size, location and illumination.

3.

In respect of Condition 11, the works hereby approved should be carried out in a way
that prevents pollution of the watercourse (Earnscleugh Water/Lauder Water Special
Area of Conservation and SSSI). Impacts on the water environment can be avoided by
following SEPA regulatory advice, e.g. GPP 5 and SNH guidance note River Tweed
SAC and SSSI Guidance for Planners and Developers (2017)

4.

The applicant/developer is reminded that where works are proposed to existing trees
within or adjacent to the application site (including felling, lopping, topping, thinning etc.),
no development should be carried out during the breeding bird season (March to
August).
Further advice on is available directly from NatureScot at
https://www.nature.scot/professional-advice

Page 8

Agenda Item 5a

SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL
PLANNING AND BUILDING STANDARDS COMMITTEE
28 JUNE 2021
APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMISSION

ITEM:

REFERENCE NUMBER: 18/01541/FUL

OFFICER:
WARD:
PROPOSAL:

Paul Duncan
Mid Berwickshire
Erection of 13 No dwellinghouses and associated
infrastructure
Land South And West Of Swinton Primary School (Phase 2),
Coldstream Road, Swinton
Ladykirk Estates
Aitken Turnbull Architects Ltd

SITE:
APPLICANT:
AGENT:

PLANNING PROCESSING AREEMENT: A Planning Processing Agreement is in place with
a determination date of Monday 28 June.
SITE DESCRIPTION
The proposed site comprises flat arable land situated between the Wellfield residential street
at the east end of Swinton and the C listed village Primary School. Together with Phase 1,
the proposed site (Phase 2) extend across the entirety of a site which is allocated for mixed
use within the Local Development Plan 2016 [Land Adjacent To Swinton Primary School;
reference MSWIN002].
A public footpath which forms part of Core Path 73 and connects the village green with the
primary school is located to the north of the proposed site. A separate field lies further to the
north and is also allocated within the Local Development Plan but remains undeveloped [Well
Field housing site; reference BSW2B]. There are no visual boundaries to the west or south of
the proposed site, which forms a small portion of a much larger open arable field.
To the east lie Plots 10, 24 and 25 of the approved 13 dwellinghouse Phase 1 site [planning
reference 18/01540/FUL], which is well under construction. The north-east boundary is
defined by the high natural stone perimeter walls of the primary school, which form part of the
C listing for the school.
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT
This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a further thirteen
dwellinghouses, to be served by a recently formed vehicular access from the A6112 (Swinton
to Coldstream) road which was previously approved as part of Phase 1.
Four of the proposed new dwellinghouses would be laid out around a continuation of a new
tree-lined road approved as part of Phase 1 which seeks to echo a traditional village lane or
village green. The remaining units would be centred on a more formal paved square to the
north of the site. Seven house types are proposed, varying considerably in scale and massing
but sharing a similar palette of external materials and general design style. Boundary
treatments for plots would include hedging and low stone walls.

Page 9

In addition, the application proposes to set aside an area of land located between Plots 19 to
23 and Swinton Primary School for Community Amenity Use. This proposal is described in
greater detail below.
PLANNING HISTORY
Relevant planning application history on the site is summarised below:


12/01488/PPP - Planning permission in principle for a residential development comprising
25 dwellinghouses (including affordable housing), the formation of a playing field and the
erection of a village hall. Approved following the conclusion of a legal agreement in 2018.



18/01540/FUL - the aforementioned Phase 1 application for 13 dwellinghouses. Approved
following the conclusion of a legal agreement in 2020.

REPRESENTATION SUMMARY
Seven members of the public objected to the application. Thirty two members of the public
(including a number who also objected to the application) signed a petition which requested
that a suitable and accessible site for a village hall be provided for in the proposed
development. All the representations can be viewed in full on Public Access. The key matters
raised are summarised below:

















In combination with Phase 1, the indicative capacity of the allocated site (25 units) would
be exceeded by 1 unit
No developer funded improvements to the village
No details of parking provision or vehicular access for the village hall
Site for village hall inadequate in size and drainage
Play area is vague is this for the primary school or general use by the village?
Proposals for community facilities contrary to what was approved at outline planning
Junction with the A6112 is beyond crest of the descending hill/ in a dip
Parking issues around the primary school are a health and safety risk
Surface water flooding
Capacity of drainage network
Lack of affordable housing
House designs don’t respect vernacular
Negative impact on character and appearance of conservation area
Most houses are of 3/4 bedrooms and are out with the general size within the village
Archaeological mitigation required before approval
Inadequate time for consultation in the village

APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Supporting information includes:






Design Statement
Transport Survey
Archaeological Assessment
Tree Survey
3D Visualisations

Page 10

DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES:
Local Development Plan 2016
PMD1
PMD2
PMD3
ED10
HD1
HD3
EP2
EP3
EP7
EP8
EP9
EP13
EP15
EP16
IS2
IS5
IS6
IS7
IS8
IS9

Sustainability
Quality Standards
Land Use Allocations
Protection of Prime Quality Agricultural Land and Carbon Rich Soils
Affordable and Special Needs Housing
Protection of Residential Amenity
National Nature Conservation Sites and Protected Species
Local Biodiversity
Listed Buildings
Archaeology
Conservation Areas
Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows
Development Affecting the Water Environment
Air Quality
Development Contributions
Protection of Access Routes
Road Adoption Standards
Parking Provision and Standards
Flooding
Waste Water Treatment and SUDS

OTHER PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:











Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance 2015
Biodiversity Supplementary Planning Guidance 2005
Development Contributions Supplementary Planning Guidance 2011 (Updated 2020)
Privacy and Amenity Supplementary Planning Guidance 2006
Placemaking and Design Supplementary Planning Guidance 2010
Waste Management Supplementary Guidance 2015
Scottish Planning Policy 2014
Designing Streets 2010
Designing Places 2013
SEPA Guidance Note LUPS-GU8 SEPA Standing Advice for Planning Authorities on
Small Scale Local Developments

CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
Scottish Borders Council Consultees
Access: According to records there is one Core Path (no.73) on this area of land. Both during
and after construction, Core Path 73 should remain open and unobstructed. Consideration
should be given to extending access to the wider countryside from this and potential future
development of the area e.g. by creating an informal path along the southern edge of the field
and linking into right of way BB175.
Archaeology: Fieldwork prior to Phase 1 construction works revealed several archaeological
features in the various trial trenches excavated across the site. These included a field
boundary, furrows of the previous rig and furrow cultivation and an undated pit. Shards of
pottery were also obtained which would confirm a Medieval presence in this area.
Phase 2 was assessed as requiring archaeological investigation when applications for Phase

Page 11

1 and 2 were first submitted. Results from Phase 1 investigation were modest, however the
scale of Phase 2 works are also substantial in themselves. There remains the potential for
further archaeological finds, features and/or deposits to be encountered in this area as well.
Evaluation of the Phase 2 area is also recommended therefore, though not so hidebound to
trial trenches. There should be some flexibility so if little is found, or little different to the Phase
1 finds, then observations can quickly move onto other features and/or areas within Phase 2.
Ecology: Identified little habitat potential on or near to the site, with the exception of the
mature trees and hedgerow on the eastern boundary of the Phase 1 site, well out with the
Phase 2 site boundary. A pond is located 500m from the site, but there is no ecological
connectivity to it, therefore impacts on it or protected species using it are unlikely. No impacts
on designated sites are likely due to the lack of such sites in close proximity to the
development, with no ecological connectivity.
Education and Lifelong Learning: No response.
Environmental Health: No response.
Flood Protection: Responding to the original proposals, the Flood Risk team sought
clarification on the SuDS and drainage strategy for the site and how they propose to intercept
and manage overland flow draining towards the primary school, Crofton Cottage and the
A6112.
Further to the submission of additional information, the Flood Risk team confirmed general
acceptance of the proposed arrangements but required two details to be addressed. Firstly,
in terms of whether the SuDS pond would be implemented with the Phase 1 development.
And secondly, regarding the residual surface water flooding issues in close proximity of the
application site. The pre development surface water flow paths shown on drawing J3576 SK002 confirm that overland flow from the application site drains to the north, towards the
primary school and a number of private properties. The post development scenario shows a
reduction in the catchment area draining to the north, however consideration of boundary
drainage was urged along the northern perimeter of the site to intercept any overland flows
and address the residual surface water issues. The Flood Risk team have since confirmed
that these comments also apply to Phase 2.
Forward Planning: The site is currently allocated within the LDP (MSWIN002) for mixed use
development, with an indicative site capacity for 25 units. The Reporter stated in the decision,
that any development should consider the provision of community facilities including playing
fields. As a result, a site requirement was attached to the allocation within the LDP, stating;
‘Any proposal must present complimentary uses reflecting the mixed use nature of the
allocation, this should include consideration of the provision of community facilities, including
playing fields’.
It is noted that the current proposal is for the erection of 26 units, over the 2 planning
application sites. Further to this there is land set aside in the north east corner for the following;
a possible village hall, future grassed play area and an area for future school expansion. The
site requirement above clearly sets out the requirement for a mixed use element to be provided
within the site. It is acknowledged that these three proposals would form the mixed use
element of the overall development. However, there are no details contained within the
submission as to how the three areas of mixed use would be delivered. Therefore, the
applicant should provide details as to how the mixed use element of the proposal would be
delivered. Otherwise, it is unclear how the mixed use element of the proposal would be
achieved.

Page 12

Heritage and Design: Informal verbal advice at the time of submission confirmed there was
no objection on built heritage grounds.
Housing Strategy: The Housing Strategy team noted at the time of the original submission
of the application that aggregated across Phases 1 and 2, the Council’s Affordable Housing
Policy would require 25% on-site affordable housing across the two phases, equating to 6
units.
Landscape: Responding to the original proposals, Landscape noted the LDP site
requirement for structure planting on the southern and western boundaries to provide a
settlement boundary and enclosure of the site. Landscape suggested houses frame and
enclose open spaces within the development and requested timber fencing be kept to the rear
of properties with boundaries visible from the streetscape mainly hedging or high quality stone
walls.
Roads Planning Service (RPS): In response to the original proposals for Phases 1 and 2,
the RPS noted a number of concerns with the proposed site layout and pedestrian/ vehicular
access thereto. In particular, the safeguarding of land for future development (play area,
school expansion and village hall) was noted, however confirmation of the proposals for
access and parking for the future village hall were required whilst these proposals were being
presented for consideration. Later, following the omission of specific reference to a village
hall, RPS confirmed generally satisfaction with the proposals, but requested that the internal
road be extended to the northern site boundary to enable a linkage to the adjacent allocated
housing site [Well Field] as per the site requirements in the Local Development Plan.
Furthermore, as the northern part of the site links to the primary school, core path, Well Field
and also allows for future linkage to the land to the west, a footway between the Core Path
and the footway provided as part of Phase 1 was also requested.
Waste Services: Commented on the original submission to note that there was no provision
for an adequate turning point for refuse collection vehicles.
Other Consultees
Berwickshire Civic Society: No response.
Swinton and Ladykirk Community Council (CC) first response: The CC provided joint
comments on the Phase 1 and Phase 2 applications. Before presenting concerns, the CC
stated their view that the proposed development would mark a very positive and welcome step
in the evolution of Swinton and its surrounding communities. The following concerns were
however noted:
1.

2.

Road Safety:
a. The visibility splays from the proposed location for the junction with the A6112 are
inadequate.
b. No dedicated off-road parking is proposed for the school or village hall. This will
increase parking on the Berwick Road and Coldstream Road when the school and
village hall are in use with resulting road safety consequences.
Sewage: There is no clarity in the application upon the capability of the village sewage
works and piping infrastructure to cope with additional effluent produced by the proposed
development. Leakages from the existing infrastructure has previously been observed
previously. Planning permission should not be granted until Scottish Water provide their
survey report and details are produced of all works required to be carried out to ensure
village sewage works and piping infrastructure will cope with the increased demand
resulting from the proposed development.

Page 13

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

Flooding: Concern expressed regarding risk of surface water flooding. Prior to full
planning permission being granted, the applicant should be required to provide details as
to how the risk of flooding will be mitigated.
Core Path 73: The design statement makes multiple reference to Core Path 73 and the
role it will play ensuring the development has safe pedestrian links with the village.
However, there is no intention to upgrade the path, contradicting the statements made
regarding its importance. Prior to planning permission being granted, the applicant should
be required to commit to upgrading the Path from the boundary of the proposed
development to the south-eastern corner of Swinton Green to an adoptable standard.
Affordable Housing: There is clear intent on the part of the applicant to provide affordable
housing, however, the number, style and location of such housing, and the means by
which they are to be funded, is to be the subject of negotiations between SBC Planning
and Housing Depts. and the applicant. There is no indication as to when those
negotiations are to take place. Prior to full planning permission being granted those
negotiations should take place, with the results documented within both the planning
applications under review, in order that residents of Swinton and its surrounding
communities are fully aware of what is to be provided in terms of S75 affordable housing.
Village Hall: The plot proposed for a possible future Swinton Village Hall in relation to
previous applications (a) has significantly reduced in size and (b) no longer has direct
vehicular access or dedicated off-road parking with the sole proposed access being from
the village Core Path. Notwithstanding the issue of heightened road safety risk above,
this renders the plot unusable for a village hall.
Communication with the Community: There has been no communication between the
applicant and the residents of Swinton and its surrounding communities aimed at
providing the simplest representation of what is proposed. Whilst the proposals are
available on SBC’s planning portal, this is of no use to those without IT/ internet facilities
and not user friendly for those who do. The result is a community in which many have no
vision of what is proposed, rendering them unable to provide informed feedback as part
of the formal consultation process. Given 26 houses are to be provided within the scope
of the two applications and indications are already given by the developer of future
developments on the land adjacent to the western boundary of the currently proposed site
we consider the overall scope of the development (current and future) should be classed
as a ‘Major Development. The applicant should therefore be required to participate in a
public consultation meeting with residents of Swinton and surrounding communities.

Swinton and Ladykirk Community Council (CC) second response: Object to the
application. The CC response refers to the outline planning permission 12/01488/PPP as well
as conditions, informatives and quote sections of the Committee Report for the application.
The CC states that based on the content of that application, and the information set out, the
community had good reason to believe their quest for a village hall was to be met by this
development, and believe the Planning and Building Standards Committee was given a clear
steer that the site must be fit for purpose and accessible.
The CC notes that later, when Phase 1 was approved, Planning Officers were informed of the
possibility of developing the Well Field site to the north, which the CC state would largely have
met with the approval of the community. The response continues that it is now common
knowledge that this will not proceed with surface water drainage causing significant
challenges. The CC note that when Phase 1 was approved, this possibility was accounted
for, and refer to an informative which was attached by Members when Phase 1 was approved,
which stated:
“The development of this site requires the provision of complimentary uses reflecting the mixed
use nature of the allocation (MSWIN002) and should include consideration of community
facilities such as playing fields and village hall. The development hereby approved does not
include community facilities however there is an opportunity to provide these complementary

Page 14

facilities on land to the north of the application site within Well Field (Housing Allocation
BSW2B). The applicant should be aware that if the community facilities are not delivered on
the land at Well Field then they must be delivered on the remainder of the mixed use allocation
(MSWIN002).”
The CC conclude that it is clear that the development is yet to meet the requirements of the
community in delivering a site that is usable and urge that the application be set aside until
the delivery of community facilities are determined as suitable and in particular for an
accessible village hall site.
Scottish Water: No issues connecting the development to the water network and sufficient
capacity at the water works. Sufficient capacity at the wastewater treatment works to take foul
only connections. A Drainage Impact Assessment is required to assess the impact on SW’s
network and there is likely to be network reinforcement downstream of this development.
SEPA: The application is below the threshold where SEPA provide bespoke advice.
KEY PLANNING ISSUES:
Whether or not the proposed development accords with the Local Development Plan 2016
and relevant planning guidance principally in terms of satisfying site allocation and site
requirements; placemaking and design; road and pedestrian access; and impacts on
neighbouring amenity.
ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION:
Principle
There are not considered to be any strategic issues arising from these proposals. The
development can be assessed primarily against the provisions of the adopted Local
Development Plan 2016.
Local Development Plan allocation
The proposed site forms part of a larger site allocated in the Local Development Plan (site
reference MSWIN002) for mixed use development with an indicative site capacity of 25 units.
The principle of developing the site is therefore well established. As the site is allocated, the
proposal must be assessed against Policy PMD3: Land Use Allocations. This policy applies
to all the allocated land use proposals and aims to ensure allocated sites are developed for
their intended use and that any alternative use is subject to appropriate justification.
Policy PMD3 states that development will be approved in principle for the land uses allocated
on the Land Use Proposals tables and accompanying Proposals Maps. Sites proposed for
redevelopment or mixed use may be developed for a variety of uses subject to other local plan
policies.
Local Development Plan site requirements
The LDP sets out the following requirements for the development of this site:
1.

2.

Any proposal must present complimentary uses reflecting the mixed use nature of the
allocation, this should include consideration of the provision of community facilities,
including playing fields.
Ensure vehicular and pedestrian access from the A6112 (Coldstream Road) in line with
advice from the Council’s Road Planning team.

Page 15

3.
4.

5.

Ensure vehicular and pedestrian access through the site from the A6112 (Main Street)
and the allocated housing site to the north.
Provide structure planting on the southern and western boundaries to screen the site from
the entry to Swinton from the south; to provide a settlement boundary; and to provide
enclosure to the site.
Orientate buildings to take advantage of the southerly aspect and views of the site.

The final four requirements are considered elsewhere in this assessment. The first site
requirement is considered below.
Planning Permission in Principle - 12/01488/PPP
With respect to the first requirement, objectors have referred to the outline planning application
12/01488/PPP, which was submitted before the proposed site was allocated for development.
This application was approved by the Planning and Building Standards Committee after the
site had been allocated for development in 2016. Consent was later granted in 2018 as
Planning Permission in Principle (PPP) following the conclusion of a legal agreement. It is
important to note that whilst the earlier permission remains extent, the application being
considered here is for full planning permission. The application does not seek approval of
matters specified in conditions attached to the PPP consent. The PPP does not assert any
general restriction or control over how the proposed site may be developed in the future, it
only controls the details of development presented for consideration under that permission. It
is therefore of limited relevance to the application being considered now, which is a wholly
separate and new application. Any new application must be assessed on its own merits
against the provisions of the development plan, and any other material considerations,
including the first site requirement.
Meeting the First Site Requirement
The applicant originally sought to address the first site requirement by setting aside land for a
possible future village hall, a future grass play area and a future school expansion.
Considerable concern was expressed by objectors at the feasibility of the proposed village
hall area, particularly at the lack of clear access and parking arrangements, and also the size
of the area to be provided. The applicant attended a public meeting in the village where these
matters were discussed. Circumstances changed and an opportunity emerged to develop
land at the Well Field allocated site (LDP site reference BSW2B) to the north of the proposed
site. Well Field is more central and appeared to be a preferable location for any future village
hall. The Planning Authority was also supportive of this approach. Around this time, Phase 1
(18/01540/FUL) was approved on the understanding that the first site requirement be
addressed at a later date, either at Well Field, or within Phase 2. There is no doubt that the
applicant explored the Well Field option with a genuine commitment to an outcome that would
seem to have pleased all concerned. For reasons out with the applicant’s control, this option
later fell through.
Following the grant of consent last summer, Phase 1 has largely been built out and the
applicant is keen to continue work on-site. The applicant has returned to the original option of
meeting the first site requirement by providing land for use to the west of Swinton Primary
School. A single parcel of land is now proposed for Community Amenity Use which would be
the subject of a legal agreement and planning condition. For an interim period of up to ten
years, the Community Amenity Use space would be maintained as an open grass field/ kickabout space, the details of which would be secured by planning condition. This would provide
a period of up to ten years within which the community could come forward with a formal
proposal to use the ground. It has been agreed with the developer that the legal agreement
would establish the right for a community group to lease the ground from the Estate at a
peppercorn rent for a period of up to 100 years from the grant of consent. The Council’s

Page 16

Education Department would however have an option to utilise the southern portion of the site
for use as a school extension in the event this is required. Formal proposals would need to
be assessed against prevailing planning policies at the time they were brought forward.
These proposals are considered to meet first site requirement. This states that any proposal
must present complimentary uses reflecting the mixed use nature of the allocation, this should
include consideration of the provision of community facilities, including playing fields. It is
important to note that the site requirement does not require the developer to deliver a village
hall, nor does it make any direct reference to such a facility. The site requirement also does
not explicitly require the developer to deliver community facilities.
For the applicant, not being the end user of any potential future community facility, presenting
formal proposals for consideration poses a range of practical challenges. For example,
securing agreement that any particular facility reflects what the community wish to see or use.
The agreement reached with the applicant addresses that issue by providing a significant
length of time for the community to come forward with an appropriate use for the Community
Amenity Use space. Removing direct reference to any particular proposals also addresses
the issue whereby the Planning Authority requires some confidence that any such proposal
will not meet practical challenges at the time of future assessment against planning policies.
When land was explicitly earmarked for a village hall, it was necessary to establish whether
this proposal would satisfy planning policies, including policies relating to road safety and
parking. Without detailed information, which would have been speculative, it was not possible
to establish this.
For the Council, there is no desire to take ownership of this land or responsibility for its
maintenance. The Council’s Estates and Neighbourhood Services teams have confirmed this.
The Council does however wish to retain an option for school expansion should this become
required in the future.
For the community, the Community Amenity Use space should provide a useful open space
adjacent to the village Primary School which could be used, for example, by children and
parents after school hours. It would also be available for more general use out with these
periods. If no proposals for a facility such as a village hall were brought forward, the space
could be leased by a local community group for potential longer term uses such as allotments
or a community orchard, or seek to continue its use as an informal open space. The
responsibility for maintenance would fall to the group in question at that time.
In summary, it is considered that the agreement reached with the developer meets the first
site requirement. It delivers an interim facility for community use in the form of an open green
space/ kick-about area. It also safeguards options for a longer-term community facility and a
school extension. This is also considered to meet the requirement for complementary uses
which reflect the mixed use nature of the allocation.
The proposed site plan retains a wider strip of land to the north of Plot 19 which would
potentially cater for vehicular access to the Community Amenity Use space in the future,
though this would need to be looked at in closer detail at that time. The developer has
confirmed there would be no objection to this. In the interim, the strip is wide enough for
maintenance purposes.
Indicative Site Capacity
It is acknowledged that the aggregate capacity of the Phase 1 and 2 applications (26 units)
exceeds the Local Development Plan’s indicative site capacity figure (25 units). The difference
is minimal. The density of the proposed development is low, and the layout demonstrates that
the exceedance of the 25 unit indicative capacity can be achieved in an acceptable way.

Page 17

Local Application
Concern has been raised that the Phase 1 and Phase 2 proposals would have been treated
as a Major Development had they been submitted as a single planning application. Additional
consultation and community engagement would have been carried out as a result. The
Planning Authority has no power to control or compel how applications are submitted. The
developer was however made aware of these concerns and attended a Public Meeting within
the village. More generally, the application was subject to the usual publicity processes,
including an advertisement in the Berwickshire News.
Road Safety, Vehicular and Pedestrian Access/ Connectivity
Vehicular Access
The proposed development would be served by the recently formed vehicular access at the
A6112 Coldstream Road to the east. This was approved as part of Phase 1 and is now in
place. The siting of the junction was altered during the handling of Phase 1 application to
ensure it was located at the most suitable location for visibility, taking topography into account.
Road Safety
The suitability of the wider transport and public road network was considered at the time of
allocation and found to be capable of accommodating this level of development. An
exceedance of the indicative capacity by one unit would have a minimal additional impact.
A number of objections were received in response to Phase 1 and 2 applications raising other
road safety grounds. Concerns regarding traffic speeds at the entry to Swinton are noted.
The speed limit area is in the process of being relocated to the south of the new vehicular
access to the site. This was secured by condition as part of Phase 1. The speed limit within
the speed limit zone is now 20mph on a trial basis as part of the Spaces For People
programme. Streetlights are also to extend down the A6112 to beyond the site entrance. This
should influence driver behaviour in advance of the current entrance to the village, and well
before the Primary School is reached.
It is acknowledged that the A6112 is used by large farm vehicles and HGVs (including those
from the nearby haulage yard). This is fairly common for rural Berwickshire roads, including
those in and around towns and villages. It is also accepted that streets in the vicinity of the
primary school can become congested at drop-off and collection times. This an existing issue
at many schools which the Council seeks to manage. The proximity to the school should
encourage future residents of the development to walk to school. The construction of new
adopted road infrastructure will also provide a more extensive network of streets which nonresidents of the development may use for drop-offs and collection. This could help distribute
drop offs across a wider area, potentially helping to reduce congestion in the existing network.
The Waste Services team noted a potential issue with the original layout in terms of
accommodating a refuse vehicle. Verbal discussion with the Roads Planning Service has
confirmed that this should not be an issue – swept path analysis has been provided which
demonstrates that refuse vehicles will be able to manoeuvre in and out the site.
Vehicular Connectivity
The site layout safeguards the potential for future vehicular access through the site to Main
Street via the Well Field allocated site to the north. A condition is attached to ensure the
required road link to Well Field in the northern portion of the site is delivered.

Page 18

Access to land to the west is also safeguarded, should that part of the field ever come forward
for development. The LDP 2016 Reporter did not anticipate further allocations in Swinton in
the longer term but it is prudent to futureproof this. Land to the west is in the control of the
applicant. It is not considered necessary to require the delivery of a fully made up vehicular
access connection to the west.
Pedestrian Access and Connectivity
Core Path 73 connects the Primary School with the village green and beyond, along a public
footpath between the proposed site and the Well Field site. The section west of the link road
to Well Field will require to be upgraded to an adoptable standard, as far as the western
boundary of Plot 18. The remaining length of the footpath to the village green could be
upgraded progressively in the future should the remainder of the field come forward for
development. Outwith upgrade works, Core Path 73 should remain open and unobstructed
during the construction process. A condition is recommended to secure control over this point.
Within the development, footways shall connect Phases 1 and 2. Further pedestrian
connectivity to the north-east of the village was secured as part of Phase 1 via a level
pedestrian link to the A6112 Coldstream Road to the north of Plot 1. A new footway is under
construction which shall provide a pedestrian link from Phase 1 to the Primary School. This
shall also connect with existing footways to the north of the Primary School.
To conclude, proposed vehicular and pedestrian access to, from and through the site will be
satisfactory provided conditions are addressed. Site requirements would also be met.
Placemaking and Design
Internal street layout
Swinton is a planned village which is broadly linear in form and centres on its village green.
The conservation area extends across the west and centre of the village. Building heights
within the conservation area are mainly one or two storey and dwellinghouses generally front
onto the street in terraces with minimal set back. This all defines the strong sense of place
within the heart of the village.
The character of the village changes in the east end of the village, out with the conservation
area. Dwellings are set further back from the road, and are mainly detached or semi-detached,
and density decreases. This is most distinct at the edge of the conservation area east of the
village green at the Wellfield cul-de-sac (west of the allocated Well Field housing site and
north-west of the proposed site). Other development in the east end includes traditional
cottages, Swinton Parish Church (B listed), a haulage yard and the Primary School.
The context for the proposed site is therefore mixed. The very clear development pattern
within the historic planned core of the village does not extend to the proposed site and it is not
felt necessary for it to be recreated in this part of the village. This was accepted over several
years of pre-app discussions and later, when Phase 1 was approved. Whilst the layout for
Phase 1 centred around a ‘rural village lane’ concept, Phase 2 will have somewhat harder
streetscene focused on a central paved square.
House types
A mix of house types is proposed. The scale of the proposed houses is also varied and
includes several large single and two storey houses. There is understood to be demand for
this type of housing. The large plot sizes should ensure these houses sit comfortably within

Page 19

the wider development, and similar house types are already nearing completion as part of
Phase 1. The massing of all houses within the scheme would be suitably broken up with a
variety of suitably proportioned offshoots, extensions and projections. Although varied in
scale, the houses would share a singular palette of external materials (natural slate roofs,
cedral cladding, artificial stone and textured render finishes to walls) helping to unify the
development, and tie in with Phase 1. It is not felt that house designs must mimic the local
vernacular although the design approach will ensure dwellinghouses relate acceptably to the
rest of the village.
Setting of Listed Buildings
Local Development Plan policy EP7 (Listed Buildings) states that the Council will support
development proposals that conserve, protect and enhance the setting of Listed Buildings.
Swinton Primary School sits adjacent to the site to the north, and is listed at category ‘C’. The
listing covers the school, the former schoolhouse, boundary walls, gate piers and gates. In
terms of the setting of the main school, the proposed dwellinghouses would be subordinate in
scale and massing and would not challenge the dominance of this building. The area given
over as open space will also provide an additional separation buffer between the
dwellinghouses within the development and the listed building.
Landscape and Trees
The site is not within an area designated for special landscape quality or protection. It lies
within an expansive, open Merse landscape on the edge of the village. The LDP site
requirements seek structure planting on the southern and western boundaries of the site. This
is needed for screening at the entry to Swinton from the south; to provide a settlement
boundary; and to provide enclosure to the site. A further site requirement is to orientate
buildings to take advantage of the southerly aspect and views of the site.
This development features a high quality palette of materials with traditional approaches to
form and massing. It is not necessary to screen the development from long views in the
surrounding landscape. As with Phase 1, hedging interspersed with trees should achieve
suitable integration of the development into the surrounding landscape. Trees will frame views
of the dwellinghouses rather than conceal them. The backdrop of slated, gabled and hipped
roofs should provide an appropriate edge to the settlement. A proposed landscaping scheme
has been lodged but requires a number of changes to secure a suitable edge to the settlement
in line with that approved for Phase 1. These revisions can be secured via condition.
A hedge runs intermittently along the northern boundary of Core Path 73, on the near side of
a low stone wall. The Core Path will generally require to remain open and unobstructed during
construction. A condition to require specific hedge protection is considered unnecessary.
Flood Risk
Local Development Plan policy IS8 states that development will not be permitted if it would be
at significant risk of flooding from any source or would materially increase the probability of
flooding elsewhere.
There is no known fluvial (river) flood risk associated with the proposed site or development.
With regards surface water flood risk, considerable concern was expressed through the
consultation process and photographic evidence was provided of existing local flooding
issues. The planning system does not require new development to resolve existing flooding
issues. Policy IS8 reflects the requirements of Scottish Planning Policy in seeking to ensure
development does not increase the probability of flooding. Whilst it may be prudent for

Page 20

developers to resolve such issues when developing land, this is at the developer’s discretion
and is not something the Planning Authority can insist upon.
The applicant lodged pre and post development surface water flow path plans. Essentially,
buildings, roads, footpaths and parking runoff would be directed to the SUDS detention basin
approved as part of Phase 1 and now operational. Garden ground and communal landscaped
areas broadly to the south of the access road (plots 11 and 12) would flow towards the Estate’s
arable field to the south in the event of flooding. Equivalent land to the north of the access
road would maintain existing flow paths to the north, which would be significantly reduced in
area compared to current levels. The Flood Risk team note this, but recommend boundary
drainage is considered on the site to intercept any overland flows and address the residual
surface water issues. A condition is required to control the precise details in terms of surface
water drainage.
On the basis that the development would not increase the probability of flooding, the proposals
satisfy LDP policy IS8.
Neighbouring amenity
Policy HD3 (Residential Amenity) of the Local Development Plan states that development that
is judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of residential areas will not be permitted.
The Council's Supplementary Planning Guidance on Householder Developments contains
advice on daylight and privacy. It is also referred to as the Privacy and Amenity Guide.
The nearest dwellinghouses to the site, excluding those under construction as part of Phase
1, would be Nos 1 and 2 Wellfield Court. The former is located to the immediate north-west
of Plot 18, which is positioned within a fairly large area of garden ground, ensuring Privacy
and Amenity Guide standards will be comfortably met. There are no loss of light/ sunlight
concerns.
The proposed dwellinghouses will also benefit from appropriate levels of privacy, access to
light, access to sunlight and garden ground consistent with policy and supplementary
guidance.
Ecology
There are no designated ecological sites on or near to the site that would be affected by the
proposed development. Ecological interests on or close to the site are limited. The Ecology
Officer has requested a condition to secure protection for breeding birds, subject to which,
there shall be no conflict with relevant ecological protection policies EP2 or EP3.
Archaeology
There are no archaeological designations on or near to the site but there is archaeological
potential in the area. Archaeological fieldwork was secured by condition when Phase 1 was
approved and was carried out prior to construction starting. No significant finds were made,
and accordingly, the Archaeology Service has re-assessed the need for further fieldwork. The
Service consider further evaluation work to be required but there is some flexibility on the scale
of this and the mechanism this takes. A planning condition can secure such mitigation, subject
to which, the development would satisfy our LDP Archaeology policy EP8. A WSI was agreed
at Phase 1 and the wording of the condition reflects this.

Page 21

Infrastructure
Mains water and foul drainage services are proposed. Scottish Water responded to the
consultation and identified no issues with capacity in the water supply network or local water
works. Capacity is also available at the local water treatment works to take foul waste.
Scottish Water subsequently reconfirmed at the time of conditions discharge for Phase 1 that
capacity remains in place.
Objectors have referred to issues in the network between the proposed site and the water
treatment works. Comments from Scottish Water confirm this view. The applicant has
provided a Drainage Impact Assessment (DIA) which took account of both phases of
development under the Phase 1 application. This identified the need for reinforcement work
downstream from the development but does not suggest that there is any inherent issue that
cannot be overcome. The applicant notes that the required network upgrades would provide
a net enhancement to the existing infrastructure, to the benefit of the local community.
Surface water from road, footpaths and buildings for both Phases 1 and 2 would discharge to
the new SUDS basin which is already operational as part of Phase 1.
Affordable Housing
The Council seeks on-site affordable houses for new developments of 17 or more
dwellinghouses, at a rate of 25%. A total of 26 dwellinghouses would be provided across
Phases 1 and 2. A total of 6 on-site affordable houses were therefore sought across the two
phases at the outset of the two applications. Later, the developer proposed to provide
affordable housing for Phase 1 and 2 on the allocated site to the north (Well Field). The
Department was supportive of the principle of this approach but required a fall-back position
until delivery was guaranteed. Two on-site affordable units were secured when Phase 1 was
approved. As noted above, the Well Field option will no longer proceed, therefore the delivery
of the remainder of the affordable housing is required to be addressed through Phase 2.
Following discussions, including scrutiny of the developer’s valuation for the development, it
has been agreed that a further two on-site affordable units will be provided as part of Phase 2
with a communed payment for off-site affordable housing secured by Section 75 legal
agreement to cover the remainder of the affordable housing requirement.
Development Contributions
Contributions will be required towards education and offsite play provision. These can be
secured by legal agreement.
CONCLUSION
Subject to a legal agreement and compliance with the schedule of conditions, the development
will accord with the relevant provisions of the Local Development Plan 2016 and there are no
material considerations that would justify a departure from these provisions.
RECOMMENDATION BY CHIEF PLANNING AND HOUSING OFFICER:
I recommend the application is approved subject to a legal agreement covering the use of the
Community Amenity Land and developer contributions, and the following conditions and
informatives:
1. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete
accordance with the plans and specifications approved by the Planning Authority.

Page 22

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
2.

No development shall take until the developer has submitted an updated Written Scheme
of Investigation (WSI) to detail a revised programme of archaeological works for Phase 2.
Thereafter, upon the written approval from the Planning Authority of the updated WSI, the
developer shall ensure that the programme of archaeological works is fully implemented
and that all recording, recovery of archaeological resources within the development site,
post-excavation assessment, reporting and dissemination of results are undertaken per
the WSI.
Reason: The site is within an area where development may damage or destroy
archaeological remains, and it is therefore desirable to afford a reasonable opportunity to
record the history of the site.

3. No development shall commence until details of surface water drainage have first been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Thereafter, the
development shall be carried out wholly in accordance with the agreed details.
Reason: to control surface water drainage and control flood risk.
4.

No development shall commence during the breeding bird season (March to August
inclusive), unless in strict compliance with a Species Protection Plan for breeding birds
that shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority.
Reason: to protect breeding birds which may be active within the site.

5.

Prior to the erection of each dwellinghouse hereby approved, notwithstanding references
to materials finishes and colours on the approved drawings, a schedule of the external
materials, finishes and colours of all dwellinghouses shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be completed in
accordance with the approved schedule of materials, finishes and colours.
Reason: The materials and colours require further consideration to ensure they are
visually sympathetic to the surrounding area.

6. Within one calendar month of the commencement of development, a scheme of details for
the interim Community Amenity Use space shall be submitted to the Planning Authority for
written approval. The scheme of details shall include:
a) Details of means of enclosure;
b) Details of maintenance;
c) Details of rights of access and use;
d) A timeline for delivery and future maintenance.
Thereafter, the Community Amenity Use space shall be enclosed, formed, managed,
operated and maintained in strict accordance with the agreed in writing scheme of details
for a period of ten years from the date of this consent, unless otherwise agreed in writing
by the Planning Authority.
Reason: to secure control over the interim use of the Community Amenity Use space
hereby approved, and to contribute to addressing the first site requirement of the LDP site
allocation.
7. Within one calendar month of the commencement of development, a timetable for the
delivery of both the Core Path 73 upgrade works shown on drawing number J3576-006
and the delivery of the vehicular access link to Well Field shown on the approved site plan
L(-1)104 Rev C, shall be submitted for the written agreement of the Planning Authority.
Thereafter, the Core Path shall be upgraded in accordance with the details shown on
drawing number J3576-006 and the vehicular access link to Well Field (L(-1)104 Rev C)
shall both be delivered within the agreed in writing timetable.

Page 23

Reason: To ensure the development benefits from an adequate standard of pedestrian
and future vehicular access connectivity.
8.

Within one calendar month of the commencement of development, notwithstanding the
details provided in the approved drawings, a revised scheme of soft landscaping and
future maintenance, including a timetable for implementation, shall be submitted for the
written approval of the Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be carried
out and maintained wholly in accordance with the agreed scheme of hard and soft
landscaping, and boundary treatments within the development hereby approved shall
accord with the hereby approved Boundary Treatment Details drawings L(-1)103 Rev E,
all unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the development assimilates acceptably into the surrounding
landscape and satisfies placemaking objectives for the new development.

9.

The two units hereby approved on plots 20 and 21 shall meet the definition of "affordable
housing" as set out in the adopted Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 2016 and
Supplementary Planning Guidance "Affordable Housing" 2015 and shall only be occupied
in accordance with arrangements (to include details of terms of occupation and period of
availability) which shall first have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Planning Authority prior to development commencing.
Reason: The permission has been granted subject to the provision of two units for on-site
affordable housing.

10. Throughout the construction period of the approved development, Core Path 73 shall
remain open and unobstructed, unless temporary rerouting is provided in accordance with
details which have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning
Authority.
Reason: to prevent access across Core Path 73 being obstructed during construction.
11. Public water mains and public foul sewer connections shall be functional prior to the
occupancy of each dwellinghouses hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing
by the Planning Authority. Thereafter, no water supply or foul drainage arrangements shall
be used other than the public water mains and public sewer without the written agreement
of the Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the development is adequately serviced with a sufficient supply of
wholesome water and there are no unacceptable impacts upon the amenity of any
neighbouring properties.
Information for the applicant
1.

Care should be taken to protect the water environment and to follow SEPA’s standard
regulatory advice in relation to good practice in development.

2.

It should be borne in mind that only contractors first approved by the Council may work
within the public road boundary.

DRAWING NUMBERS
Type
Plans and Elevations
Plans and Elevations
Plans and Elevations
Plans and Elevations
Plans and Elevations
Plans and Elevations

Reference
L133
L132
L131
L129
L127
L126

Revision

B
B
B

Page 24

Date
13 May 2021
13 May 2021
13 May 2021
13 May 2021
13 May 2021
13 May 2021

Plans and Elevations
Plans and Elevations
Plans and Elevations
Plans and Elevations
Plans and Elevations
Plans and Elevations
Plans and Elevations
Site Plan
Other
Approved by
Name
Ian Aikman

L124
L122
L121
L120
L119
L118
L117
L(-1)104
L(-1)103

C
B
D
B
B
B
B
C
E

13 May 2021
13 May 2021
13 May 2021
13 May 2021
13 May 2021
13 May 2021
13 May 2021
15 June 2021
13 June 2021

Designation
Signature
Chief Planning and Housing Officer

The original version of this report has been signed by the Chief Planning and Housing Officer
and the signed copy has been retained by the Council.
Author(s)
Name
Paul Duncan

Designation
Assistant Planning Officer

Page 25

Page 26

Agenda Item 5b

SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL
PLANNING AND BUILDING STANDARDS COMMITTEE
28 JUNE 2021
APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMISSION

ITEM:

REFERENCE NUMBER: 20/01355/FUL

OFFICER:
WARD:
PROPOSAL:

Julie Hayward
Leaderdale And Melrose
Erection of eight holiday lodges, installation of ground
based solar panel array and formation of associated
access and parking
Land East of Thirlestane Castle Lauder
Mr and Mrs E Maitland-Carew
Richard Amos Ltd

SITE:
APPLICANT:
AGENT:

PLANNING PROCESSING AGREEMENT: 28th June 2021
SITE DESCRIPTION
The application site is located to the east of Lauder and is within an area of woodland
called Broomy Braes, situated to the north of the B6362.
Thirlestane Castle, a category A Listed Building, is to the north west of the site, which
is within Thirlestane Castle Garden and Designed Landscape (GDL). The Thirlestane
Castle caravan site is to the south west of the site. The bridge over the Leader Water
on the B6362 (Lauder Bridge/Eagle Bridge) to the west of the access to the site is a
category B listed structure.
The Leader Water, part of the River Tweed Special Area of Conservation, runs along
the western edge of the woodland.
There are a number of paths through the woodland served by an informal car park
adjacent to the public road and there is a further area for parking within the woodland
at a former quarry. The Southern Upland Way (SUW) runs to the north of the site.
Hawthorn Cottage is situated to the south of the B6362 and entrance to the site
(02/00361/FUL: Erection of dwellinghouse).
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT
The proposal is to erect eight holiday lodges in the north western corner of the
woodland. There would be six two bedroom lodges (42 by 20ft) and two three bedroom
lodges (45 by 20ft), each with decking, hot tub, bike shelter and a ground source heat
pump (GSHP). The lodges would be clad in timber. Tree and shrub planting is
proposed between each unit.
Access would be from the B6362 and the existing access would be upgraded. Five
car parking spaces would be provided in a car park to be used by walkers. A visibility
splay would be provided to the west of the access. The existing track would be

Page 27

upgraded and three passing places would be provided, with the parking area at the
quarry backfilled. A 3.4m wide track would lead from the main track to serve the
lodges.
An electricity sub-station and bin/recycling store surrounded by a 6ft high fence would
be provided within the site. Bollards with reflective disks and LED lights would mark
the track. Each unit would have one parking space.
Water supply would be from the mains supply. Drainage would be via a septic tank to
a soakaway discharging via a tail drain to the Leader Water.
An array of four rows of solar panels is proposed for the field to the north of the lodges
beyond the Southern Upland Way, with the pipework for the ground source heat pumps
beneath.
PLANNING HISTORY
There is no planning history for this site.
REPRESENTATION SUMMARY
Twelve representations were received in respect of the application as originally
submitted (eleven objections and one of support). These can be viewed in full on the
Public Access website and raise the following planning issues:


Loss of mature trees/woodland. The full extent of the mature trees which would
need to be felled is not shown and there are more appropriate areas on the
estate for this development.



The site is in an area of natural beauty and the development will be detrimental
to the rural nature and views in the area. The Local Development Plan supports
the heritage of the area and recommends robust boundary treatments for
developments.



The woodland is enjoyed by walkers, cyclists and horse riders and is one of
few such locations near Lauder. The paths through the woods will disappear
or be curtailed by the development.



The Southern Upland Way (SUW) runs between the lodges and the solar array
affecting the rural nature and beauty of the path, altering the experience of
walkers. Construction would block the SUW and it is unlikely that the solar
array can be adequately screened.



Impact on wildlife, insects and birds. The area is made up of a variety of
woodlands and grasslands home to protected species such as badgers, bats,
red squirrel and otters and other animals including deer, rabbits, hares, foxes,
and a wide range of bird species and fungi. The development will result in a
loss in biodiversity from disturbance and habitat loss and a local decline or loss
of some rare species.



The compensation measures proposed are inadequate to offset impacts on
biodiversity and habitat loss.

Page 28



The assessment within Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) was not made
with a full understanding of the development and the mitigation has not been
developed with a full understanding of the potential impact of the proposed
development. There is no assessment on the likely impact of the development
of the instream fauna of the Leader Water at the proposed site, part of the
Tweed Special Area of Conservation (SAC). The area adjacent to the
development is heavily utilised for spawning by salmon, sea trout and lamprey
species.



The proposed siting of the outflow from the water treatment works would impact
on fish species. No details or assessment is available on the waste water
treatment system and the risk to fish. The outflows are set in an area of flood
plain area and will overflow during period of heavy rain. There are also a
number of amphibian species, such as frogs, toads and newts in the woods
and overgrown pond which will be detrimentally affected by this development



Considerable disturbance will occur during the construction phases and the
continued year-round occupation. The associated noise and light generated by
the lodges will have a long-term effect on the local wildlife.



Detrimental impact on the environment and the development is not sustainable.



The lodges are substantial habitable buildings which will be occupied all year.
The large number and size are out of context with the area.



The proposed solar array is in open grassland and also will be highly visible, in
the surrounding area.



Planning has been granted for 200+ caravans off the A68 which could
accommodate these lodges.



Access is on a tight bend near a narrow bridge on a busy road and there have
been many accidents and near misses. Trees and hedgerows have already
been removed or cut back to allow for improved visibility.



The proposed access provides minimal car parking for the current usage. The
current access point provides enough space for approximately five cars but
there is also an area used for further parking (the "quarry" ). These areas can
be fully utilised with in excess of 20 cars at one time.



Visual impact of signage.



Fencing and gates will block access to the woodland by walkers and deer.



Headlights from vehicles entering and leaving the site will affect Hawthorn
Cottage opposite.



Power and water supply will necessitate the road being dug up and it is
proposed to take power from the pole the garden of Hawthorn Cottage and take
it underground to the entrance point; this would disturb the property’s septic
tank, soakaway and garden and no notification of this or prior consent has been
given.

Page 29



The entrance to the proposed development should be at the Eagle Gates, a
straight road with existing power supply and water supply. The entrance, road
and passing places would be easier for visitors and staff, with no intrusion to
the castle, retains the forestry and is within walking distance of Lauder.



This area has been intermittently inhabited since prehistoric days. No
archaeological survey has been provided and loss of historical material during
the disturbance caused by the construction of the access roads and lodges is
a concern.



Inaccuracies in the submission and contradictory statements, with paragraphs
taken from a previous submission for the large caravan site that are not relevant
to this application. Also the statement claims that the lodges will have great
views of the castle but also that they would be screened by woodland.



The minimal contribution of eight lodges to the Lauder economy cannot
compensate for the damage to the woodland used by walkers and to the
Southern Upland Way.



The woodland is enjoyed by walkers, mountain bikers and horse riders, who
will be impacted by restrictions in the woodland when the fences are erected..



The application should be considered as an additional phase to the current
static caravan park, currently in its second phase of its three-phase expansion
to accommodate approximately 130 units. The proposal may set a precedent
for future expansion resulting in incremental loss of woodland habitat and
access.



The proposed site consists of native woodland, including semi-natural
woodland and commercial conifer plantation. Restoring and enhancing native
woodland and preventing further loss of this habitat forms part of Scottish
Borders Local Biodiversity Action Plan. Woodland fragmentation resulting from
fencing proposed should be kept to a minimum.



Trees and vegetation were severely cut back at the access in July 2020 and
the fallen vegetation and brash have been left and not cleared away and is an
eyesore. Any condition to keep the vegetation cut back will not be done
annually because the applicant does not own the land on which said vegetation
grows.

Support


Thirlestane Castle Estate is the beating heart of The Royal burgh of Lauder.
People enjoy the walks and open space at the castle. The benefit is solely
down to the Maitland Carew family who have gone over and above to
accommodate Lauder's townsfolk, not because they need to but because their
love of the town itself.

APPLICANTS’ SUPPORTING INFORMATION





Supporting Statement
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
Tree Survey
Photographic record of watercourse at Broomy Braes

Page 30












Planting scheme for the solar array
Photographic record and comment of views to and from the site from Thirlestane
Castle and Lauder
Woodland Work Plan
Addendum to Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
Biodiversity Enhancement Plan
Construction Environmental Management Plan
Species Protection Plan
Tree Impact Assessment and Woodland Management Plan
Flood Risk Assessment
Planning Response Letters

DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES:
Scottish Borders Council Local Development Plan 2016
PMD1: Sustainability
PMD2: Quality Standards
PMD4: Development Outwith Development Boundaries
ED7: Business, Tourism and Leisure Development in the Countryside
HD3: Protection of Residential Amenity
EP1: International Nature Conservation Sites and Protected Species
EP2: National Nature Conservation Sites and Protected Species
EP3: Local Biodiversity
EP7: Listed Buildings
EP8: Archaeology
EP10: Gardens and Designed Landscapes
EP13: Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows
IS7: Parking Provisions and Standards
IS8: Flooding
IS9: Waste Water Treatment Standards and Sustainable Urban Drainage
IS16: Advertisements
OTHER PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Biodiversity (2005)
Householder Development (incorporating Privacy and Sunlight Guide) (2006)
Landscape and Development (2008)
Local Biodiversity Action Plan: Biodiversity in the Scottish Borders (2001)
Placemaking and Design (2010)
Trees and Development (2008)
CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
Scottish Borders Council Consultees
Roads Planning Service: RPS are concerned about visibility at the junction of the site
access and the B6362. The forward visibility for a driver waiting to turn right into the
site is severely restricted by overgrown foliage. The applicants have tried to address
this by showing the required visibility splay on the Access Plan, however, the area
required to form the visibility splay is out with the public road boundary and appears to
be out with the ownership of the applicants. Written confirmation that the applicants

Page 31

have the ability to form this visibility splay, which requires all foliage, hedges, bushes
etc. to be removed from the area is required. Confirmation that the applicants have
the ability to ensure this visibility splay is maintained in perpetuity is also required.
Re-consultation: This site is served by an existing vehicular access from the B6362
which currently has sub-standard visibility, is excessively large in terms of geometry
and has vehicles parked indiscriminately throughout the day. As part of the proposal
for this development it is proposed to improve the junction visibility, particularly forward
visibility for right turners, reduce the overall size of the junction to ensure junction
manoeuvres are carried out at the most appropriate location in terms of junction
visibility. It is also proposed to provide a parking area for walkers.
The main concern on this proposal was whether the applicants were able to provide
the forward visibility splay required for right turning vehicles, however they have now
supplied written confirmation from the land owners that they are content for this work
to be undertaken and maintained on an ongoing basis.
RPS do not object subject to conditions.
Ecology Officer: Largely satisfied with the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal however,
the appraisal has not covered all areas of the submitted development, notably the solar
array. Additional information is required to include the footprint and zone of influence
of the submitted planning red line boundary.
Designated sites
The Leader water (River Tweed SAC) is approximately 90m from the nearest area of
the proposed development. Small drains may provide connectivity from the car park
area at the southern end of the development and a drainage ditch runs through the
coniferous plantation connecting with the Leader water. Pollution prevention
measures are proposed. There is limited connectivity and unlikely to be a significant
effect. Pollution prevention measures are proposed.
Taking into account a construction environmental management plan/pollution
prevention plan proposed in mitigation, it is unlikely there will be a significant adverse
effect on the integrity of the River Tweed SAC.
Habitats
The site largely consists of coniferous plantation, with areas of mixed woodland
plantation and broadleaved plantation and native woodland areas. There is an area of
wet woodland at the north end of the development and lowland mixed deciduous
woodland (immature) at the southern end. There are open areas of marsh and marshy
grassland habitat at the north-west of the site.
Protected species
Based on the appraisal to date, evidence of otter was recorded on the Leader Water
and a potential resting place identified, although this is said to be out with areas of
potential disturbance.
Trees that may be affected by the development are said to be of negligible suitability
for bat roosts. Bats are likely to use the woodland and woodland edge for foraging and
commuting and may be affected by new lighting for the proposed development.

Page 32

No evidence of badger setts or activity was found, although it is likely that badgers will
use the site for foraging and commuting. Red squirrel are considered to be absent
from this site.
Habitats (including woodland and scrub) that may support breeding birds may be
affected by the development.
Mitigation is proposed including a Pollution Prevention Plan, supplementary surveys
for bats, badger, breeding birds and invasive species as appropriate, establishment of
biodiversity protection zones during construction and a sensitive lighting scheme for
bats. The lighting scheme will need to meet the requirements of good practice
guidance including appropriate types of lighting and bollard.
Biodiversity enhancement measures are proposed including provision of bat and bird
boxes. A woodland management plan is proposed.
These matters can be covered by condition.
Compensatory Replanting Scheme
A proposal for compensatory replanting has been submitted at an off-site location. This
could be secured under a Section 75 agreement. Further details should be submitted
including a species map and confirmation that the replacement plot meets the
equivalent standards of the Forestry Grant Scheme including minimum width. Details
of ongoing maintenance and any felling and restocking should be included. Preference
would be for an area of native woodland, removing any requirements for felling and
restocking.
Re-consultation: Satisfied with the addendum to the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal,
no significant impacts are likely to arise in relation the solar array. Habitat that could
support nesting birds may be affected and mitigation will be required accordingly.
A potential otter resting place was recorded but this is greater than 30m from any
proposed construction area.
Pollution prevention measures will be required to protect the watercourse and Leader
water (River Tweed SAC).
Lighting scheme
No lighting scheme has been submitted. The trees affected by the development are
assessed as being of negligible suitability for bat roosts. The tree and woodland cover
will provide suitable habitat for foraging and commuting by bats. It is unlikely that bat
roosts will be affected by the lighting. A condition will be required for a suitable lighting
scheme to safeguard bat foraging and commuting habitat that is in accordance with
good practice.
Compensatory replanting scheme
Further details have been provided on compensatory replanting but this did not include
planting densities or species mixes within compartments. Further details will be
required.
Satisfied with the mitigation included in the Species Protection. An amended version
which indicates that the pre-development supplementary surveys and the mitigation

Page 33

are to be carried out by a suitably qualified ecologist would enable the relevant
condition to be discharged.
Satisfied with the mitigation measures included in the outline Construction
Environmental Management Plan. Further detail can be secured by a condition for a
revised CEMP, including further detail of the tail drain construction, noise prevention
and lighting.
Satisfied with the proposed enhancements included in the Biodiversity Enhancement
Plan. Further detail can be secured by condition to provide more detail on measures
to be implemented and a plan of the locations of planted areas, species mix,
establishment and maintenance, location and type of bird and bat box and who will
carry out implementation of the measures.
Economic Development: No response.
Landscape Architect: The Thirlestane Castle estate is registered in the National
Inventory of Gardens and Designed Landscapes (GDL) for its high scenic qualities and
outstanding historic values. The features of the GDL include informal 18th and 19th
century parkland following the meandering Leader Water and valley, enclosed by
curving woodland belts with the existing woodland generally following the historic
layout. The site is located in the eastern blocks of policy woods which although were
historically stocked as broad leaved woods are now predominantly coniferous
plantations. Some remnants of broadleaf trees remain in association with woodland
edges, paths, access and bordering the Leader Water.
The GDL shares its eastern boundary with the Lammermuir Hills Special Landscape
Area (SLA).
Tree Survey
The tree survey provided is inadequate. It should be produced in accordance with
BS5837:2012 and identify all the trees/tree groups that border the site and access road
as well as the areas to be removed for the lodges and site perimeter areas to be
retained undisturbed. All individual trees and tree groups identified should be subject
to a condition survey. Where tree groups are retained for screening purposes at the
woodland edge these should be included in the survey.
Landscape and Visual Effects
This proposal including the solar array risks potential visual effects on the views from
local footpaths, especially the SUW, the woodland paths, estate drives and access
roads as well as from the B6362, A68 and upper floors of adjacent housing and
Thirlestane castle. With exception of the A68 and a short section of the SUW views of
the lodge site and the solar array site have not been assessed for potential visual
effects. The potential for both landscape and visual effects will be dependent on the
siting of the lodges and the changes intended for the woodland and for longer term
woodland management.
The supporting statement talks of the spectacular views that will be seen from the
lodges. It is evident from photographs submitted and the tree survey that the trees in
front of the lodges on the western edge of the woodland are quite close together.
Without the removal of trees in this location it is unlikely that the views will appear
spectacular,’ as only glimpses of the view will be seen between the tree trunks. As
described in the supporting documents the Norway spruce could act as a ‘natural

Page 34

screen’ and minimise visual effects, as long as trees are to be retained coupled, with
discreet siting of the lodges. For this to be successful, it will be dependent on a long
term woodland management plan to minimise the loss of screening effect over time
and ensuring appropriate replacement planting when necessary.
Key to minimising visual impact will also be the colour of the units. A shade of brown
or green with a grey tone (including roofing and facings) would help the lodges ‘recede’
in the view. Minimising clutter at the lodge frontages such as railings, steps, bin stores
and shelters will be important too as these can draw attention and increase visual
effects.
Placemaking and Design
The supporting statement states that the lodges are designed to provide a sense of
seclusion and the intention is for them to blend into their surroundings. For this to be
successful and the lodges to sit in a truly wooded setting there would need to be greater
retention of trees between the lodges which may require wider spacing. The fairly rigid
layout shown is disappointing as it doesn’t appear to make best use of the wooded
setting or reflect the sinuous lines of the woodland edge.
Solar Array
The native species hedge proposed to screen the solar array from the Southern Upland
Way is unlikely to be effective as most walkers will be able to see over a traditional
hedge. The considerable size of two panels at 25m length would make the array quite
a difficult feature to ‘hide’ in the landscape particularly from close up and from higher
ground. The reflective nature of solar panels is such that they can stand out across
the landscape and appear incongruous and this element of the proposals is out of
place in the parkland setting, potentially industrialising the parkland character. The
potential landscape and visual effects on sensitive receptors using footpaths close to
and further afield and on higher ground should be further explored.
Compensatory replanting scheme
While the principle of compensatory planting is welcome, it will not be within the
national designation of Thirlestane GDL and therefore does not compensate the
designation and its policy woods directly. Compensatory planting positioned away from
the site will not offset the negative impacts on this part of historic policy woodland, the
recreational resource and the visual impacts. Some if not all of the compensatory
planting should be considered in relation to the policy woodland affected to ensure
satisfactory mitigation of the proposals.
From a landscape and visual perspective these proposals raise a number of concerns
firstly that the need to remove trees to create the opening for the plots in addition to
the further tree removal for services installation, access roads, parking, fencing and
gates may mean that the historic policy woodland becomes eroded and fragmented.
Furthermore there is potential for the western edge of the woodland to appear as a
narrow screen of trees in front of a visible clearing of lodges rather than appearing as
a woodland with discreet lodges within it. The pressure to remove trees to open up
views for guests and allow light in to the development could further risk the loss of tree
resource and the ‘natural screen’ on the western edge. These factors together unless
carefully controlled could result in a weakening of the structure and integrity of the
historic policy woods.

Page 35

The proposals also prompt the question with regard to the future long term intention
for the Sitka spruce plantation and whether future felling or further lodge type
development is anticipated as this could have additional landscape and visual impacts
on the historic woodland resource
Re-consultation: Concerns remain regarding these proposals. There is a risk that
the site becomes a visible clearing of lodges rather than appearing as a woodland with
discreet lodges within it and as a result the important woodland feature of the GDL
starts to become eroded.
Woodland Margin
Accepting that the lodges will be on a raised elevation behind this tree group there
remains the potential for the woodland margin to be compromised opening up views
into the site due to the desire for views out of the site and increased light levels. This
need has to be balanced with the requirement for the site to be discreet in the
landscape, to protect the qualities and character of this historic designed landscape
and the setting of Thirlestane castle. Where tree removal is proposed, it should be
evenly distributed across the woodland so that large gaps do not appear, opening
views into the site.
It is crucial that the visible edge is not compromised to retain the structure and integrity
of the historic policy woods. This may be an opportunity to consider long term
restoration of this area and to reinstate the former mixed broadleaf policy woods
through sustainable woodland management.
A tree survey should detail which trees are proposed for retention in this sensitive area
taking into account the screening benefits of existing trees and their significance in
views from across the landscape.
PV Solar Array
Although the arrangement of PV panels in the solar array has been adjusted to reduce
visual impact, remain concerned that this proposal is out of place in the parkland
setting. The PV panels have the potential for considerable landscape and visual
impact on the sensitive core area of parkland landscape within the designed landscape
and is likely to have adverse effects on the visual amenity of those using the Southern
Upland Way. The proposed hedging is unlikely to provide an adequate screen for
walkers on this path.
Compensatory Planting
No further compensatory planting has been included to directly offset the negative
impacts on this part of the historic policy woodland. Consideration should be given to
under planting of the areas of woodland edge thinned by 50%.
Public Access
The western path and boundary wall of the car park should be retained

Page 36

Driveway Access
The roundabout along the new road access would be an inappropriate intrusion and a
suburban approach in the discreet, very low trafficked woodland setting and should be
removed.
Further information is required.
Flood Protection Officer: In terms of information that this Council has concerning
flood risk to this site, that The Indicative River, Surface Water & Coastal Hazard Map
(Scotland) known as the “third generation flood mapping” prepared by SEPA indicates
that a small part of the site is at risk from a flood event with a return period of 1 in 200
years. That is the 0.5% annual risk of a flood occurring in any one year.
The SEPA flood maps indicate that the wooded area and location of the proposed
holiday lodges is outside the 1:200 and 1:1000 year flood plain. Only the southernmost
part of the area of the proposed drainage pipe from the proposed septic tank to the
Leader Water is within the 1:200 year floodplain of the Leader Water.
Recommend the applicant install a non-return valve in the drainage pipe to reduce the
risk of flood waters entering the pipe and raising up to the proposed holiday cabins.
The flood maps also indicate that during a 1:200 year flood event the road bridge
across the Leader Water and part of the B6362 to the west of it, are likely to flood. As
such access and egress from the proposed site to the west, towards Lauder, may be
impeded and unsafe.
However, the flood maps indicate that the eastern part of the B6362 is unlikely to flood
during a 1:200 year event. Safe access and egress from the site would still be possible
via this road going south from the proposed site and onto the A697.
Recommend the applicant include the potential road flooding in their site evacuation
plan. During incidences of heavy rainfall and sever river flooding, egress from the site
to the west and the A68 may be obstructed. During such events, the recommended
egress route from the site should be towards the south east on the B6362 and onto
the A697.
Access Officer: According to Scottish Borders Council records there is one core path
adjacent to this area of land, Core path 189: the Southern Upland Way, one of
Scotland’s Great Trails, starting in Port Patrick in the west and terminating at
Cockburnspath on the east coast.
There are other tracks in the area that the public would have a ‘right of responsible
access’ to under the Land Reform (Scotland) Act 2003.
The solar array will be visible from the SUW, but do not consider this to be an issue.
According to the plans submitted a cable requires to be installed directly under the
route of the SUW; request that the route is kept open and free from obstruction at all
times.
Environmental Health: No response.
Archaeology Officer: The site of this application lies wholly within the Inventory of
Gardens and Designed Landscapes of Thirlestane. This is an outstanding example of

Page 37

a Scottish Designed Landscape that has developed through time and incorporating a
number of elements, initially from formal arrangements located close to the castle to a
much more extensive and natural parkland style through time.
The submitted details do not define how much ground disturbance will be required.
The appearance of a solar array in this area would be incongruous and at variance to
the historic nature of the parkland. The intrusion of any screened area for the array
would break the sinuous curves of the parkland edge. It is unclear the whether the
solar array and its screening would be visible from Thirlestane Castle. The nature of
any screening would require species suitable for the historic parkland. Visualisations
would be useful to assess the possible impacts upon the parkland and setting of the
castle. There is the potential for glare or reflection from the panels to be encountered
from the castle. Any screening would damage the integrity of the historic parkland and
have potential below-ground implications for what archaeological finds or features may
be revealed.
A number of finds have been made in the area and there is a further potential for
archaeological sites and finds to be made. At the southern end of the proposed
application the lines of proposed septic tank and tail drain’s drainage to the Leader
Water is noted of archaeological interest.
Further information is required on the impact upon the parkland and views from the
castle. Conditions are recommended to secure a programme of archaeological works.
Statutory Consultees
Community Council: No response.
Visit Scotland: No response.
Tweed Foundation: No response.
Historic Environment Scotland: Assessed this proposal and while satisfied that the
Thirlestane Castle Inventory site could accommodate a development of this kind in
principle, request further information regarding the visibility of both the lodges and the
solar array in views from Thirlestane Castle and across the designed landscape from
Lauder.
The proposed development is located within the Thirlestane Castle designed
landscape which is included in the Inventory of Gardens and Designed Landscapes in
recognition of its national importance. Eight holiday lodges are proposed for an area
of conifer woodland less than 500m from Thirlestane Castle, which is listed at Category
A and forms the focal point of the GDL. There is also a proposed ground based solar
array to be installed in open parkland immediately to the north of the conifer plantation.
Satisfied that the erection of a small number of timber-clad holiday lodges in the
modern conifer plantation would not have an adverse impact on the GDL and setting
of the Castle, in principle.
However, HES have concerns regarding the visibility of the lodges in views from both
Thirlestane Castle and across the GDL from Lauder towards the development site.
The submitted material states that the lodges would be screened from view by a stand
of mature Norway spruce. However, elsewhere in the Supporting Statement it states
that the lodges ‘will be afforded spectacular views through the mature Norway spruce

Page 38

trees over the Leader Water and Thirlestane Estate towards the castle.’ We are
therefore concerned that these statements are contradictory.
We have similar concerns regarding the erection of a solar array in open parkland less
than 500m to the east of Thirlestane Castle. This may be visible in views from the
Castle, including its principal rooms on the 1st floor, and across the GDL from Lauder.
It is difficult to assess the impact based on the submitted information. According to the
submitted Supporting Statement, ‘The array will be appropriately screened by shrubs
and low growing trees to minimise visual impact...It is noted that this is within the
Designed Landscape and therefore care has been taken to choose a site which can
be sympathetically screened to minimise visual impact.’ These statements are not
supported by any visualisations, nor are there any details of the proposed planting.
Great care would be needed to plant screening vegetation in this location without
changing the open parkland character of this area of the GDL.
Request further information regarding the layout and planting proposed for the solar
array as well as photomontages which demonstrate the visibility of both the lodge
development and the solar array in views from the principal rooms of Thirlestane Castle
and in views across the GDL from Lauder.
Re-consultation: Content with the proposal to plant parkland trees to screen views
towards the solar array. Also satisfied that the woodland management proposals
would ensure that the lodges would be largely screened by existing vegetation in both
views from the Castle and from Lauder. Satisfied that if the lodges were constructed
in a recessive colour and with minimal or low-level external lighting, this development
would not have a significant adverse impact on either the Inventory site or on the
setting of Thirlestane Castle.
SEPA: Insufficient information is provided with the application for us to assess flood
risk at the site. Object to this development until a Flood Risk Assessment or other
appropriate information is provided on flood risk.
Re-consultation: Further information has been submitted. This information
demonstrates that the small man-made drainage ditch has a very limited catchment
area and due to the steep gradient, it is unlikely to pose a risk to the proposed holiday
accommodation. A new bridge crossing will be constructed, and this should be
designed appropriately to ensure it does not impact on channel conveyance. No
concerns regarding the risk of the Leader Water to the most vulnerable due to the
significant elevation difference and the small watercourse concerns have now been
addressed.
Based on the above, SEPA are now in a position to withdraw previous objection to the
application.
Transport Scotland: No objections or comments.
Scottish Forestry: Thirlestane Castle and grounds currently have a ten year approval
from Scottish Forestry to undertake certain woodland management practices as
detailed within the Lauderdale Estate Long Term Forest Plan. This plan expires during
2022 and will require to undergo a formal review prior to any additional approval being
offered by Scottish Forestry for further management of the woodlands on the Estate.
During September 2019, the Estate applied to vary the Long Term Forest Plan to
include compartments 14a to 14h (compartment 13a already had thinning approval).
These areas incorporate the proposed planning development site. Approval was given

Page 39

to thin and selectively fell these woodlands, as some wind blow was noted in the
mature stands adjacent to the Leader Water as well as being seen as good silvicultural
practice to thin the younger crop.
Scottish Forestry would request that should planning be approved, that the Estate
formally amend the Long Term Forest Plan to reflect any changes. The proposed
development is subject to meeting strategic and regulatory requirements.
Approval for woodland removal should be conditional on achieving significant net
public benefit, this taking account of the current and future benefits/dis-benefits of the
existing woodland. There is not enough detail proposed within the application to fulfil
this requirement of the Control of Woodland Removal Policy. This makes it extremely
difficult to assess the value (social, economic and environmental) of the existing
woodland and any impact the proposal will have.
The developer has proposed compensatory planting, however would we request
further details to fully inform our response, including a detailed tree survey. It is
understood that approximately 0.65ha of tree removal will be required, but further
clarity is required to ensure adequate compensatory planting is provided.
Further assessment and information provided of the wider environmental and societal
characteristics and benefits of the woodland to fully inform a compensatory planting
proposal which addresses this loss.
Further details of the provision of any compensatory planting proposed is required.
Compensatory planting should offer as a minimum a like-for-like replacement where
possible, including scale and benefits. It is understood that the existing woodland
offers informal recreation and little information has been provided to suggest that the
compensatory offering will do likewise. A suitable compensatory planting plan should
be agreed before the developer can proceed with the development and the felling of
the trees. This plan must flesh out all the details of the proposed planting, including its
maintenance over the entire life-span of the development.
Re-consultation: Having reviewed the newly submitted Tree Impact and Woodland
Management Plan, we are broadly in favour of additional amenity and biodiversity
planting; however, to be in line with the Control of Woodland Removal policy, the
current proposals for productive conifers do not sufficiently offer “like-for-like”.
Consequently, we would suggest an increase in productive planting.
NatureScot: The proposal is close to the River Tweed SAC, designated for its fish
species, otter and as a whole river system characterised by water crowfoot species.
The Council is required to consider the effect of the proposal on the SAC before it can
be consented.
The site plan shows a small ditch passing through the proposal site, eventually leading
to the Leader Water, part of the River Tweed SAC. It is possible that pollutants or silt
caused during construction of the lodges could enter the Leader Water via this drain.
Furthermore, it is proposed that a septic tank at the southern end of the proposal will
collect and treat sewage from the eight lodges. A drain leading from this would empty
into the Leader Water, potentially causing water quality issues. Little information is
available on the septic tank and outflow, although the site plan notes that the design
will be in accordance with SEPA approval.
Regarding the first concern, the applicant has submitted an ecological report, as well
as a series of photographs to illustrate the burn. Provided standard good practice is

Page 40

followed during construction work, as referenced in the ecological report, there should
be no impact on the River Tweed SAC. In addition, the photographs illustrate a thickly
vegetated ditch that should retain any silt or contaminants before they reach the Leader
Water.
Regarding sewage management, I note the flood-related comments from SEPA and
the Council Flood Protection Officer. It should be noted that the actual channel of the
Leader Water in this area has migrated across the flood plain in recent years, as
evidenced by aerial imagery. Design of the outflow should accommodate this to
ensure that any outflow infrastructure is not affected by river channel change, and that
flooding is not likely to cause pollution of the water course.
Provided the design of the septic tank and outflow drain is acceptable to SEPA,
NatureScot raises no further concerns.
Other Consultees
None
KEY PLANNING ISSUES:










Siting and design
Impact on the woodland, Designed Landscape and visual amenities
Impact on Thirlestane Castle Listed Building
Impact on residential amenity
Access, parking and road safety
Flooding
Ecology impacts
Archaeology
Whether the development can be adequately serviced

ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION:
Planning Policy
Policy ED7 of the Local Development Plan 2016 states that proposals for tourism
development in the countryside will be approved provided that the development is to
be used directly for tourism appropriate to a countryside location and is in accordance
with the Scottish Borders Tourism Strategy and Action Plan.
The Supporting Statement advises that Thirlestane Park Ltd operates the four star
caravan park that caters for holiday home owners and seasonal tourers. This was
expanded recently but is already at capacity. This proposal seeks to provide additional
year-round accommodation that provides an alternative type of accommodation to that
already available, attracting more visitors to the area and contributing to the aim of
developing the Scottish Borders as a destination for longer stays.
The Council encourages a variety of holiday accommodation and this development
would contribute to that aim. The operator has demonstrated that the caravan park is
a success, well run and attractive to visitors. It is considered that the proposal is
appropriate for this rural location and that the accommodation that would be provided
would be of a high quality. The site is well located close to Lauder for shops and
facilities, to the A68, the A697 and Southern Upland Way for access and to attractions
within the Borders, Lothians and Edinburgh.

Page 41

A condition would ensure that the units are occupied by holidaymakers only to ensure
full compliance with tourism related policies. Residential units in this location for
permanent occupation would not be supported.
Siting, Layout and Design
Policy ED7 requires that the development meets the siting and design criteria of policy
PMD2; this policy requires all development to be of high quality in accordance with
sustainability principles, designed to fit in with Borders townscapes and to integrate
with its landscape surroundings. The policy contains a number of standards that would
apply to all development.
The lodges would be located within the north west corner of the woodland and
positioned in a north-to-south row. The woodland in this area would be felled to
accommodate the lodges.
The agent was requested to reconsider the siting of the lodges, as a more appropriate
approach would be to keep the woodland, which is one of the main attractions of the
site, and re-position the lodges, spaced out amongst the trees. This would provide a
less uniform and linear layout that is informal within the woodland, resulting in less tree
removals.
The agent advises that this plantation of Sitka spruce is a commercial venture and
holds very little aesthetic or ecological value. The Sitka spruce was planted 25 years
ago and would normally be clear felled to make way for new planting within 40 years
from initial planting. Any re-planting of this commercial plantation could be done in a
different species/mixture of species. Creating pockets within the existing plantation
and linking these pockets up would require a greater amount of felling than the current
proposal. No value should be placed on the existing Sitka spruce plantation. The
proposed re-planting in native species would provide a visually attractive and
ecologically diverse setting for the lodges.
The impact of the development on the woodland is discussed below. It is considered
that with appropriate re-planting to enhance the setting of the lodges, the proposed
layout can be supported.
The indicative size, design and materials of the lodges are acceptable. The external
larch cladding would ensure the lodges integrate into the woodland setting. A condition
would secure detailed floor and elevation drawings and the colour/finish prior to
commencement to ensure the development is not prominent and recedes into the
woodland.
The development has been designed to be sustainable for all year round occupation,
with timber frames and larch cladding, GSHP and the solar array, in compliance with
the aims of policy PMD1.
Impact on Trees, Woodland, Visual Amenities and Designed Landscape
Policy ED7 requires that the development respects the amenity and character of the
surrounding area. Policy EP13 seeks to protect trees from development. Policy EP10
states that the Council will support development that safeguards or enhances the
landscape features, character or setting of sites listed in the Inventory of Gardens and
Designed Landscapes or sites included in historic gardens and designed landscapes
records.

Page 42

The site is within a woodland within the Thirlestane estate and part of the Designed
Landscape. The woodland is a valuable component of the landscape and the
broadleaf woodland merits retention. The majority of the woodland is out with the red
line site boundary but is owned by the applicant.
This proposal risks potential visual effects on the views from local footpaths, especially
the SUW, the woodland paths, estate drives and access roads as well as from the
B6362, A68 and upper floors of adjacent housing and Thirlestane castle. The potential
for both landscape and visual effects will be dependent on the siting of the lodges, the
proposed felling of parts of the woodland, replanting and for longer term woodland
management.
A Tree Survey has been submitted with the application outlining tree removals and
replacement planting. The main woodland is a commercial plantation and comprises
semi-mature Sitka spruce and Norway spruce. There are also areas of broadleaf
woodland including oak, ash, birch and beech and an area of marshy grassland in the
north west corner.
Tree felling would be required at the individual sites of the eight lodges (Sitka spruce),
the passing places (2 oak), the septic tank, soakaways and trench for services (14
Norway spruce) and the site of the walkers’ car park (10 trees: oak, willow, ash and
birch). Selective thinning would also be carried out in areas of Sitka spruce.
The Supporting Statement advises that the lodges will be located on individual sites
carved out of the fairly dense Sitka spruce plantation, an area which does little to
enhance the biodiversity of the location, with the focus on retaining the mature stands
of Norway spruce to the west. This will provide a natural screen and will help minimise
any visual impact. The mature broadleaves and Norway spruce growing on the steep
slope to the west of the site would effectively screen the proposed development from
view. These stands will be selectively thinned to promote continuous cover, with
enrichment planting undertaken to develop successor trees in the longer term.
A Woodland Management Plan has been drawn up to guide the future management
of the woodlands. The woodland has been divided into eight sub-compartments and
each has been described in detail and management objectives and planting proposals
set out for each.
The Council’s Landscape Architect has been consulted. The main concern is the risk
that the site becomes a visible clearing of lodges due to a desire for views out of the
site and increased light levels rather than appearing as a woodland with discreet
lodges within it. As a result, the important woodland feature of the Thirlestane
Designed Landscape would become eroded. Where tree removal is proposed, it
should be evenly distributed across the woodland so that large gaps do not appear,
opening views into the site, harming the qualities and character of the designed
landscape and the setting of Thirlestane castle. It is crucial that the visible edge is not
compromised to retain the structure and integrity of the historic policy woods. This
may be an opportunity to consider long term restoration of this area and to reinstate
the former mixed broadleaf policy woods through sustainable woodland management.
The Landscape Architect has requested a tree survey of the trees on the western
woodland margin, identifying which trees will be removed, those to be retained and
any individual trees of value through the rest of the application site that can be retained
and a detailed annotated drawing and schedule of all proposed compensatory planting
for all areas of the site.

Page 43

A more detailed planting plan has been submitted for the areas between the lodges.
The majority of the trees to the west of the site are shown as being retained but no
detailed tree survey has been submitted for this area.
It is accepted that the majority of the woodland is commercial Sitka spruce plantation
that would eventually be clear felled (probably within the next 15 years). The aim,
therefore is to retain the trees that are worthy of retention and supplement the
woodland with appropriate replacement planting to ensure the lodges are not
prominent in the Designed Landscape and to maintain the recreational value of the
woodland. More information in relation to tree felling and replacement planting
proposals is required at this stage, and it is recommended that if members support the
application, these matters are secured and agreed via planning conditions, and
Section 75 legal agreement for those areas out with the application site.
Key to minimising visual impact of the lodges would be the colour of the units. A shade
of brown or green with a grey tone (including roofing and facings) would help the lodges
‘recede’ in the view. The precise details of all external materials and colour of the
lodges can be secured via planning condition.
The solar array is proposed for the field to the north of the lodges, adjacent to the
Southern Upland Way and this aspect of the development has the potential to be highly
prominent in the landscape. The agent advises that this is essential for the energy
efficiency of the development. The array has been revised to four rows of single panels
rather than two rows of double panels; each panel would be 1.6m deep between
400mm and 1200mm in height. Parkland tree planting and a hedge for the field
boundary comprising of native species are proposed to help screen the array from the
Southern Upland Way.
The location and size of the solar array within the Designed Landscape has the
potential to result in considerable landscape and visual impacts, out of keeping with
the historic nature of the parkland and harmful to the visual amenity of those using the
Southern Upland Way.
It is considered that the proposed hedge is unlikely to be effective as most walkers will
be able to see over it and the size of the array makes it a difficult feature to ‘hide’ in
the landscape. The reflective nature of solar panels is such that they can stand out
across the landscape and appear incongruous and out of place in the parkland setting.
The applicant’s supporting information advises that there has been a loss of parkland
trees over the years; the Estate has begun a replacement planting programme, and
this will be bolstered by parkland tree planting in the vicinity of the solar panels.
Any proposals to screen the array with planting must be carefully considered to ensure
the species are suitable for the historic parkland whilst ensuring effective screening.
As this parkland is out with the site boundary, this planting will be agreed and secured
by the legal agreement.
Exact details of the solar panels will be secured by condition, including the requirement
for the frames and supports to have a dark grey colour to help minimise the impact.
Compensatory planting is proposed on a site at Greenside to the north of Lauder and
west of the A68, comprising of Sitka spruce, Norway spruce and native broad leaves
(oak, wild cherry, rowan, crab apple, hazel and hawthorn). This is out with the site so
cannot be controlled by condition and would be secured by the legal agreement.

Page 44

Compensatory planting positioned away from the site would not offset the negative
impacts on this part of historic policy woodland, therefore compensatory planting is
also required within the policy woodland affected to ensure satisfactory mitigation of
the proposals. This would covered by condition and also be secured by the legal
agreement for parts of the woodland out with the application site.
The wall on the road boundary of the site would be retained and replacement planting
is proposed. The proposed signage at the entrance to the site would be controlled by
condition and advertisement consent where necessary.
Impact on Listed Buildings
Policy EP7 of the Proposed Local Development Plan states that the Council will
support development proposals that conserve, protect and enhance the character,
integrity and setting of Listed Buildings.
Thirlestane Castle is a category A Listed Building and forms the focal point of the
Designed Landscape.
Historic Environment Scotland (HES) is satisfied that the erection of the lodges in the
conifer plantation would not have an adverse impact on the Designed Landscape and
setting of the Castle in principle. However, they requested further information
regarding the visibility of both the lodges and the solar array in views from Thirlestane
Castle and across the Designed Landscape from Lauder as they had concerns
regarding the visibility of the lodges. The Supporting Statement is contradictory about
the screening provided by the woodland.
HES is concerned about the impact of the solar array, which may be visible in views
from the Castle and insufficient information was submitted to assess the impact. They
advise that care is required to plant screening vegetation in this location without
changing the open parkland character of this area of the GDL.
Photographs, with sightlines, were submitted by the agent of views of the application
site from the castle and Lauder. The supporting text highlights that the castle is
screened by mature broadleaf trees and the lodges would be sited behind mature
woodland that is to be retained. The photos demonstrate that even in winter the lodges
would not be prominent when viewed from the castle or Lauder.
HES was re-consulted and confirm that they are content with the proposal to plant
parkland trees to screen views towards the solar array and are satisfied that the
woodland management proposals would ensure that the lodges would be largely
screened by existing vegetation in both views from the castle and from Lauder. They
conclude that if the lodges are constructed in a recessive colour and with minimal or
low-level external lighting, this development would not have a significant adverse
impact on either the Inventory site or on the setting of Thirlestane Castle. These issues
can be controlled by conditions and would ensure compliance with Policy EP7.
Impact on Residential Amenities
Policy ED7 requires that development has no significant adverse impact on nearby
uses, particularly housing. Policy HD3 also states that development that is judged to
have an adverse impact on the amenity of residential areas will not be permitted.

Page 45

The closest residential property to the site is Hawthorn Cottage, approximately 50m to
the south of the entrance to the site from the public road. This property benefits from
intervening tree and shrub planting and it is considered that there would be no loss of
privacy or light to occupants of this property.
The issue of light pollution has been raised from lights within the development and
from headlights of cars entering and leaving the site.
A condition would secure exact details of all lighting within the site (along the access
and for each individual lodge) to prevent light pollution and any disturbance to
Hawthorn Cottage. Disturbance from headlights is not felt to be significant enough to
warrant a revision to the scheme, given the distance from the access and intervening
planting. Furthermore the access is currently used by vehicles accessing the
woodland for leisure purposes and it is felt that there would be no unacceptable
adverse impacts over and above existing levels.
Adequate spacing between units and the proposed planting would ensure an
acceptable environment for holidaymakers without adverse impacts on amenity
through loss of privacy, overlooking or over shadowing.
A condition will secure the exact details of the GSHP and noise levels to ensure no
unacceptable adverse noise nuisance occurs.
Subject to conditions set out below it is considered that the proposed development
would not result in unacceptable adverse effects on the residential amenity of existing
(and proposed) properties and would comply with Policies ED7 and HD3 of the LDP.
Access, Parking and Road Safety
Policy ED7 states that the development must take into account accessibility
considerations. Policy IS7 requires that car parking should be provided in accordance
with the Council’s adopted standards.
This site is served by an existing vehicular access from the B6362 which currently has
sub-standard visibility, is excessively large in terms of geometry and has vehicles
parked indiscriminately throughout the day. It is proposed to improve the junction by
reducing the width of the existing access and locating the entrance at the point with
clearest visibility. A visibility splay would be provided to the west to improve forward
visibility for right turners, and visibility has already been improved by tree and hedge
removal and maintenance. Signage is proposed to warn traffic on approach.
A car park for walkers would be provided adjacent to the access, with 5 spaces.
Passing places would be formed along the access track at 150m intervals. The track
would be widened and upgraded and each lodge would have one parking space.
The Roads Planning Service was concerned with visibility at the junction of the site
access and the B6362. The forward visibility for a driver waiting to turn right into the
site is severely restricted by overgrown foliage. The required visibility splay is shown
on the Access Plan, however, the area required to form the visibility splay is out with
the public road boundary and the ownership of the applicants. The Roads Planning
Service requested written confirmation that the applicants have the ability to form this
visibility splay, which requires all foliage, hedges and bushes to be removed from the
area and confirmation that the applicants have the ability to ensure this visibility splay
is maintained in perpetuity.

Page 46

The applicants have now supplied written confirmation from the land owners they are
content for this work to be undertaken and maintained on an ongoing basis. The
Roads Planning Service has therefore removed their objection to this proposal,
provided conditions to secure the upgrading of the access, the provision and
maintenance of the visibility spay and surface water drainage measures are attached
to any planning permission that may be granted.
Members will note that Transport Scotland has no objections to the proposed
development.
Members will be aware that the existing woodland is well used by walkers in the area.
Several of the representations received in relation to the application object to the gates
and fencing proposed as this would restrict access. Although there are no claimed
rights of way within the woodland, there are paths that the public would have a ‘right
of responsible access’ to under the Land Reform (Scotland) Act 2003.
A revised site plan has been submitted that shows the fencing removed and the
removal of the first gate so that access would be retained to the majority of the
woodland via the existing tracks and paths.
The Southern Upland Way runs along the northern edge of the existing woodland
beyond which would be located the proposed GSHP pipework and solar array. The
Council’s Access Officer offers no objections to the proposal provided the route is kept
open and free from obstruction. It is noted that a cable would be installed underneath
the path to serve the solar array but this matter can be controlled by a condition.
Flooding
Policy IS8 of the Local Development Plan advises that as a general principle, new
development should be located in areas free from significant flood risk and
developments will not be permitted if it would be at significant risk of flooding or would
materially increase the probability of flooding elsewhere. The ability of flood plains to
convey and store flood water should be protected.
The Leader Water is to the south west of the site and a small man-made drainage ditch
flows through the woodland, bisecting the site, north east to south west
The location of the proposed holiday lodges is outside the 1:200 and 1:1000 year flood
event. Only the southernmost part of the area of the proposed drainage pipe from the
proposed septic tank to the Leader Water is within the 1:200 year floodplain of the
Leader Water. The flood maps also indicate that during a 1:200 year flood event the
road bridge across the Leader Water and part of the B6362 to the west of it are likely
to flood.
Members will note that SEPA originally objected to the application, on the grounds that
insufficient information was provided to assess flood risk at the site and requested a
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) or other appropriate information be provided. The
applicant submitted a FRA and following re-consultation, SEPA has withdrawn their
objections. They consider that the small man-made drainage ditch has a very limited
catchment area and due to the steep gradient, and it is unlikely to pose a risk to the
proposed holiday accommodation. A new bridge crossing will be constructed, and this
should be designed appropriately to ensure it does not impact on channel conveyance.
SEPA has confirmed that they have no concerns regarding the risk of flooding from
the Leader Water.

Page 47

The Council’s Flood Protection Officer recommends that the applicant installs a nonreturn valve in the drainage pipe to reduce the risk of flood waters entering the pipe
and raising up to the proposed holiday cabins.
Access and egress form the proposed site to the west, towards Lauder, may be
impeded and unsafe due to flooding. The food maps indicate that the eastern part of
the B6362 is unlikely to flood during a 1:200 year event and therefore the Flood
Protection Officer is content that safe access and egress from the site would still be
possible via this road going south from the proposed site and onto the A697.
During incidences of heavy rainfall and severe river flooding, egress from the site to
the west and the A68 may be obstructed. During such events, the Flood Protection
Officer advises that the recommended egress route from the site should be towards
the south east on the B6362 and onto the A697 and the potential road flooding should
be included in the site evacuation plan. This can be secured by condition.
Ecology
Policy EP3 states that development that would have an unacceptable adverse effect
on Borders Notable Species and Habitats of Conservation Concern will be refused
unless it can be demonstrated that the public benefits of the development outweigh
the value of the habitat for biodiversity conservation.
The Leader Water flows to the south/south west of the site, approximately 90m from
the closest part of the site, and is a tributary of the River Tweed, designated as a
Special Area of Conservation (SAC).
A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) has been submitted that identifies small
drains which may provide connectivity from the car park area at the southern end of
the development and a drainage ditch runs through the coniferous plantation
connecting with the Leader Water. Pollution prevention measures are proposed. The
Council’s Ecology Officer considers that there is limited connectivity and it is unlikely
to have a significant effect on the integrity of the River Tweed Special Area of
Conservation.
Evidence of otter was recorded on the Leader Water although this is said to be out with
areas of potential disturbance. Trees that may be affected by the development are
said to be of negligible suitability for bat roosts; bats are likely to use the woodland and
woodland edge for foraging and commuting and may be affected by new lighting for
the proposed development. No evidence of badger setts or activity was found,
although it is likely that badgers will use the site for foraging and commuting. Red
squirrel are considered to be absent from this site. Habitats that may support breeding
birds may be affected by the development.
Mitigation is proposed including a Pollution Prevention Plan, supplementary surveys
for bats, badger, breeding birds and invasive species as appropriate, establishment of
biodiversity protection zones during construction and a sensitive lighting scheme for
bats. Biodiversity enhancement measures, including provision of bat and bird boxes,
and a woodland management plan is proposed.
Members will note that the Council’s Ecology Officer requested further information to
inform the PEA, including the areas within the red line boundary where the solar array
and tail drain would be located as well as details of the lighting scheme.

Page 48

In response to these comments the agent has submitted the following: an addendum
to the PEA that includes the solar array; a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan, which
proposes appropriate locally native species for the replacement planting, bird and bat
boxes; a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) that identifies
construction activities that may have an adverse impact on the environment and
mitigation, and a Species Protection Plan (SPP) for badger, otter, bats and birds.
The Ecology Officer is broadly satisfied with these documents and their
conclusions/recommendations but requires further revisions/details, as well as further
information in relation to the proposed sensitive lighting scheme. These matters can
be covered by appropriately worded planning conditions.
NatureScot advises that it is possible that pollutants or silt caused during construction
of the lodges could enter the Leader Water via the existing ditch and the drain from the
septic tank serving the lodges, potentially causing water quality issues. Provided
standard good practice is followed during construction, as referenced in the PEA,
NatureScot advises that there should be no impact on the River Tweed SAC. In
addition, the photographs submitted in support of the application illustrate a thickly
vegetated ditch that should retain any silt or contaminants before they reach the Leader
Water. Provided the septic tank and outflow infrastructure are designed to account for
possible river channel change (and is acceptable to SEPA), NatureScot has no
objections to the proposal.
Compensatory replanting is proposed off-site and would be secured by the Section 75
agreement. The Ecology Officer requested further details of off-site panting and
preference would be for an area of native woodland, removing any requirements for
felling and restocking. Further details have been provided but this did not include
planting densities or species mixes within compartments. Further details will be
required as part of the Section 75 agreement should members support the application.
Archaeology
Policy EP8 states that development proposals which will adversely affect local
archaeological assets will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the benefits
of the proposal outweigh the heritage value of the asset. All proposals that adversely
affect such an asset must include an acceptable mitigation strategy.
The Council’s Archaeology Officer has outlined the history of the area and is concerned
that the submitted details do not define how much excavation, levelling and ground
disturbance is proposed. He concludes that the there is insufficient information to
make a full assessment of the potential impacts upon the archaeology in the area.
However, conditions requiring a programme of archaeological works is recommended
to ensure compliance with EP8.
Water, Drainage, Servicing and Waste Disposal
Policy IS9 states that the preferred method of dealing with waste water associated with
new development would be a direct connection to the public sewerage system. In this
case, drainage would be via a septic tank and tail drain to the Leader Water.
The Supporting Statement advises that the site lies on a gentle gradient towards the
river basin so benefits from good natural drainage. A network of perforated drainage
pipes would be set into underground channels as part of the upgrading works to the
access road. This will ensure that the water run-off from the hillside is directed away

Page 49

from the lodges and road. This, and the water runoff from the access road and car
park, will be directed to a gully soakaway to the west of the site.
Members will note that no objections have been received from Environmental Health
or SEPA.
The application confirms that water supply would be from the mains supply located on
the B6362.
A bin store would be provided for general waste and recycling and a condition would
secure details of waste disposal and ongoing management.
The Supporting Statement advises that a power supply would be taken from the
existing pole mounted transformer close to the B6362 to the west of Hawthorn
Cottage and undergrounded to the site where a ground mounted substation will be
installed
The owner of Hawthorn Cottage has objected to the application as the pole for the
electricity supply is in the garden of Hawthorn Cottage although the agent has
confirmed that the pole to be utilised is out with the garden of Hawthorn Cottage.
Notwithstanding the location f the pole, it is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that
all necessary permissions are in place including that of utility companies. This is not
a matter for the planning application process.
CONCLUSION
Subject to a legal agreement and compliance with the schedule of conditions, the
development will accord with the relevant provisions of the Local Development Plan
2016 and there are no material considerations that would justify a departure from these
provisions.
RECOMMENDATION BY CHIEF PLANNING AND HOUSING OFFICER:
I recommend the application is approved subject a legal agreement (covering the
extent of proposed tree felling and to secure additional and compensatory planting out
with the site boundary) and to the following conditions and informatives:
1.

The development hereby approved shall be occupied for holiday use only and
shall not be used as a person's sole or main residence or as temporary or
permanent residential accommodation. The occupation of the holiday units shall
be restricted to genuine holidaymakers for individual periods not exceeding 4
weeks in total within any consecutive period of 13 weeks. The operator shall
maintain an up-to-date register of the names of all holiday makers staying in the
holiday units and their main home addresses. This information shall be made
available for inspection at all reasonable times by an authorised officer of the
Planning Authority.
Reason: The accommodation on the site is not designed for permanent
occupation and permanent residential use would be contrary to the council's
housing in the countryside policies.

2.

No development shall commence until the applicant has secured a programme of
archaeological work in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation
outlining a Watching Brief. This will be formulated by a contracted archaeologist
and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Access should be afforded to
allow investigation by a contracted archaeologist(s) nominated by the developer

Page 50

and agreed to by the Planning Authority. The developer shall allow the
archaeologist(s) to observe relevant below ground excavation during
development, investigate and record features of interest and recover finds and
samples if necessary. Results will be submitted to the Planning Authority for
review in the form of a Data Structure Report. If significant archaeology is
discovered below ground excavation should cease pending further consultation
with the Planning Authority. The developer will ensure that any significant data
and finds undergo post-excavation analysis, the results of which will be submitted
to the Planning Authority.
Reason: The site is within an area where ground works may interfere with, or result
in the destruction of, archaeological remains, and it is therefore desirable to afford
a reasonable opportunity to record the history of the site.
3.

No development shall commence until the applicant has secured the
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a
Written Scheme of Investigation outlining an Archaeological Evaluation. This will
be formulated by a contracted archaeologist and approved in writing by the
Planning Authority. Access should be afforded to allow investigation by a
contracted archaeologist(s) nominated by the developer and agreed to by the
Planning Authority. The developer shall allow the archaeologist(s) to conduct a
programme of evaluation prior to development. This will include the below ground
excavation of evaluation trenches and the full recording of archaeological features
and finds. Results will be submitted to the Planning Authority for review in the
form of a Data Structure Report. If significant archaeology is discovered the
nominated archaeologist(s) will contact the Archaeology Officer for further
consultation.
The developer will ensure that any significant data and finds
undergo post-excavation analysis, the results of which will be submitted to the
Planning Authority.
Reason: The site is within an area where ground works may interfere with, or result
in the destruction of, archaeological remains, and it is therefore desirable to afford
a reasonable opportunity to record the history of the site.

4.

Detailed floor plans and elevation drawings of the proposed lodges, including
external materials and colour/finishes, details of the decking, cycle storage and
bins store to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority
before the development commences. The development then to be completed in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect the visual amenities of the area.

5.

Details of all fencing and gates (position, height, material, colour/finish) to be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority before the
development commences. The fences and gates shall then be installed in
accordance with the approved details before the lodges are occupied. The
existing wall at the entrance to the site adjacent to the B6362 shall be retained.
Reason: To protect the visual amenities of the area.

6.

Precise details of the solar panels hereby approved shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Planning Authority before the development
commences. The frames and supports of the solar array shall be dark grey and
matt finished. The solar panels shall then be installed in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To protect the visual amenities of the area and the special qualities of the
Designed Landscape.

Page 51

7.

Precise details of the ground source heat pumps, including noise levels, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority before the
development commences. The ground source heat pumps shall then be installed
in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect the visual amenities of the area and the amenities of occupiers
of the lodges and nearby houses.

8.

Precise details of the surfacing materials for the access road, passing places and
car parking spaces to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning
Authority before the development commences. The access track, passing places
and car parking spaces shall be formed in accordance with the approved details
before the lodges are occupied. The car park
Reason: To protect the visual amenities of the area and to ensure the lodges can
be accessed safely.

9.

Prior to commencement of development the visibility splay shown on Drawing
Number 19-B689-PL06 A: Access Plan shall be provided and the visibility splay
shall be maintained to the agreed level thereafter in perpetuity.
Reason: To ensure safe access and egress to the site in perpetuity.

10. Prior to the development becoming operational the existing junction with the
B6362 to be upgraded in accordance with the specification detailed in Informative
Note 1 and the car parking area to be completed in accordance with Drawing
Number 19-B689-PL06 A: Access Plan.
Reason: To ensure safe access to and egress from the site and to provide for
displaced parking.
11. Prior to the development becoming operational the private access to be surfaced
from the B6362 to a point where it no longer serves the parking area to a
specification first submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect the integrity of the public road and to help prevent loose
material being dragged onto the public road in the interests of road safety.
12. Prior to the commencement of development precise details of the measures to be
put in place to prevent the flow of water onto the public road shall first be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The approved measures to
be installed and fully functional before the first lodge is occupied.
Reason: In the interest of road safety and to prevent the free flow of water onto
the public road.
13. The Southern Upland Way shall be kept open and free from obstruction at all times
while the cable and any other associated infrastructure required to serve the solar
panels is installed, unless details of a temporary diversion have first been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the right of way is kept open for walkers.
14. An Evacuation Plan demonstrating safe access to and egress from the site during
a flood event to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority
before the development commences. The lodge development shall then be
managed in accordance with the approved Evacuation Plan.
Reason: The road bridge across the Leader Water and part of the B6362 to the
west of it, are prone to flooding.

Page 52

15. Details of waste disposal and waste management to be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Planning Authority before the development commences. The
development then to be operated in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the site is adequately serviced and managed.
16. The water supply and foul water drainage arrangements shall be installed and
operational before the lodges hereby approved are occupied.
Reason: To ensure the site is adequately serviced.
17. Details of all proposed signage and advertisements within the site and at the
entrance to the site (position, size, material, colour, design, content) to be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority before the
development commences. The signage then to be installed in accordance with
the approved details.
Reason: To protect the visual amenities of the area.
18. No development shall take place except in strict accordance with a scheme of soft
landscaping works, which shall first have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Planning Authority, and shall include (as appropriate):
i. indication of existing trees, shrubs and hedges to be removed, those to be
retained and, in the case of damage, proposals for their restoration;
ii. location of new trees, shrubs, hedges and grassed areas;
iii. schedule of plants to comprise species, plant sizes and proposed
numbers/density;
iv. programme for completion and subsequent maintenance.
Reason: To enable the proper form and layout of the development and the
effective assimilation of the development into its wider surroundings.
19. Prior to commencement of development, a Species Protection Plan (SPP) for
otter, bats, badger and breeding birds shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Planning Authority. The SPP shall incorporate provision for a predevelopment supplementary survey and a mitigation plan. No development shall
be undertaken except in accordance with the approved in writing SPP.
Reason: To protect the ecological interest in accordance with Local Development
Plan policies EP1, EP2 and EP3.
20. Prior to commencement of development a Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) incorporating the latest good practice guidelines and
statutory advice (including as outlined GPP1, GPP2, GPP4, GPP5 and PPG6) to
protect River Tweed Special Area of Conservation and local waterbodies and
biodiversity, shall be submitted to and approved in writing in writing by the
Planning Authority. Any works shall thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance
with the approved CEMP.
Reason: To protect the ecological interest in accordance with Local Development
Plan policies EP1, EP2 and EP3.
21. Prior to commencement of development, a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan (BEP)
including measures outlined in the Biodiversity Enhancement Plan (Findlay
Ecology Services, March 2021) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Planning Authority. No development shall be undertaken except in accordance
with the approved BEP.
Reason: To protect the ecological interest in accordance with Local Development
Plan policies EP1, EP2 and EP3.

Page 53

22. Prior to commencement of development a sensitive lighting scheme incorporating
the latest good practice guidelines (as outlined: Guidance Note 8/18 (2018): Bats
and artificial lighting in the UK) to protect bats, and including details of the position
and height of the lighting columns along the access road and for each lodge, shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Any works shall
thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved lighting scheme
Reason: To protect the ecological interest in accordance with Local Development
Plan policies EP1, EP2 and EP3 and to prevent light pollution and disturbance to
residential properties.
Informatives
1. In respect of condition 10, the specification for the access is as follows: a
40mm layer of 14mm size close graded bituminous surface course to BS
4987 laid on a 100mm layer of 28mm size dense base (roadbase) to the
same BS laid on a 310mm layer of 100mm broken stone bottoming blinded
with sub-base, type 1. It should be borne in mind that only contractors first
approved by the Council may work within the public road boundary.
2. In respect of condition 14, the Council’s Flood Protection Officer recommends
that the applicant installs a non-return valve in the drainage pipe to reduce the
risk of flood waters entering the pipe and raising up to the proposed holiday
lodges.
3. In respect of condition 16, the design of the septic tank and outflow drain should
be acceptable to SEPA. A CAR Construction Site Licence, including a
Construction Environmental Management Plan, would be required by SEPA if
the site is >4ha.
4. In respect of condition 17, Advertisement Consent may be required for the
proposed signage.
DRAWING NUMBERS
Plan Ref

Plan Type

19-B689-PL01
19-B689-PL02
19-B689-PL03
19-B689-PL04 A
19-B689-PL05 A
19-B689-PL06 A
19-B689-PL07 A
19-B689-PL09

Landownership
Location Plan
Existing Block Plan
Proposed Block Plan
Proposed Site Plan
Access Plan
Aerial Plan
Proposed Sections

Approved by
Name
Ian Aikman

Designation
Signature
Chief
Planning
and
Housing Officer
The original version of this report has been signed by the Chief Planning and Housing
Officer and the signed copy has been retained by the Council.
Author(s)
Name
Designation
Julie Hayward
Team Leader Development Management

Page 54

Page 55

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

PLANNING APPEALS & REVIEWS
Briefing Note by Chief Planning & Housing Officer

PLANNING AND BUILDING STANDARDS COMMITTEE
28th June 2021

1

PURPOSE
1.1

2

The purpose of this briefing note is to give details of Appeals and Local
Reviews which have been received and determined during the last
month.

APPEALS RECEIVED
2.1

Planning Applications

2.1.1 Reference:
Proposal:
Site:
Appellant:

20/01544/ADV
Installation of bill board signage
Lidl UK GmbH, Wilton Path, Hawick
Lidl UK GmbH

Reason for Refusal:
The proposal fails to comply with criteria b) of
Policy IS16 and criteria i) and k) of Policy PMD2 of the Scottish Borders
Council Local Development Plan 2016, in that the scale and billboard
design of the proposal is not in keeping with the character and visual
amenity of the surrounding residential area where the sign with be visible
from. The proposal would, therefore, have an unacceptable adverse impact
on the amenity of the area.
Reason for Appeal:
The Town & Country Planning Act Control of
Advertisement (Scotland) Regulations (1984) limits the exercise of powers
for the control of advertisements solely in the interests of amenity and
public safety. There is no suggestion from the planning authority in either
the Report of Handling (C1) or in the reason for refusal (C2) that the
proposal raises any concerns in terms of public safety. In terms of road
safety this is reinforced in the consultation response from SBC Roads
Planning Service (B1) which only considers the original proposals for
illuminating the sign and, even with this, no objection was raised provided
that a condition was imposed limiting the luminance of the proposed
lighting. As noted above, this aspect of the proposal has been withdrawn
and such a condition would not be necessary. There is no suggestion that
that this proposal has any effect on pedestrian or vehicular safety as a
result of its size of location. The focus of these grounds of appeal is
therefore concerned with the impact of the proposed advertisement on
amenity.
Method of Appeal:

Written Representations

Page 57

Planning & Building Standards Committee 28th June 2021

1

2.2

Enforcements

2.2.1 Reference:
Proposal:
Site:
Appellant:

20/00198/UNDEV
Enlargement of garden and erection of sheds and
drinking hut
1 Broad Street, Eyemouth
Martin & Jemma Landels

Reason for Notice:
It appears to the Council that the above breach of
planning control has occurred within the last 4 years. An area of open
amenity land owned by Scottish Borders Council has been enclosed with a
boundary fence and used as garden ground. The boundary fence is in
excess of 1 metre in height within 20 metres of a road. The fence does not
benefit from any permitted development. Two timber sheds have been
erected on the land without the benefit of planning permission.
Grounds of Appeal:
The Appellants have correspondence emails from
SBC that show that they were advised to apply for planning permission
and leave all structures up while doing so. They would like the outcome to
be to go ahead with the planning application.
Method of Appeal:
2.3

Written Representations

Works to Trees
Nil

3

APPEAL DECISIONS RECEIVED
3.1

Planning Applications

3.1.1 Reference:
Proposal:
Site:
Appellant:

20/00691/FUL
Erection of two dwellinghouses and removal of
Condition No 4 from Planning Consent
02/01783/FUL
Land West of 8 Ballantyne Place, Peebles
Mr Rob Begg

Reasons for Refusal: 1. The development would be contrary to Policy
EP11 - Protection of Greenspace of the Scottish Borders Local
Development Plan 2016 in that the erection of two houses on this site
would result in the permanent loss of green space to the detriment of the
amenity and character of the surrounding area. The loss of the green
space would be contrary to Condition 4 of planning consent 02/01783/FUL
which requires the layout of the wider development site to make adequate
provision for a play area(s), and it has not been adequately demonstrated
that the development would outweigh the need to retain this open space.
2. The development would be contrary to Policy PMD5 - Infill Development
of the Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 2016 in that the erection
of two houses would result in over development of the site. The
development would result in the permanent loss of an area of green space
to the detriment of the character and amenity of the surrounding area. 3.
The development would be contrary to Policy PMD2 - Quality Standards of
the Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 2016 in that the erection of

Page 58

Planning & Building Standards Committee 28th June 2021

2

two houses on this site would not respect the character of the surrounding
area. The development of this site would result in the permanent loss of
meaningful green space.
Reason for Appeal:
The appeal has been carefully considered by
planning professionals and found to be approvable subject to standard
conditions.
Method of Appeal:

Written Representations & Site Visit

Reporter’s Decision:

Dismissed

Summary of Decision: The Reporter states that the main issue in this
appeal is the effect that developing the appeal site would have on the
character, appearance and amenity of Ballantyne Place and the wider
conservation area. The concludes that the proposal would conflict with the
second criterion of Policy PMD5 due to the harm that would be caused to
the character and amenity of the surrounding area by the loss of this open
amenity space. The proposal would also result in the loss of ‘meaningful
open space’ contrary to Policy PMD2. Policy HD3 aims to protect the
amenity of both established residential areas and proposed housing
developments. The principle of developing this open space is contrary to
this policy due to the adverse impact it would have on the amenity of the
existing development. Policy EP11 aims to prevent unjustified piecemeal
loss of open space. The Reporter finds no demonstrable social, economic
or community justification for its loss or evidence that outweighs the need
to retain the only area of open space within Ballantyne Place. The
proposals are therefore contrary to Policy EP11. The Reporter finds no
conflict with Policy EP9, concluding that the development would harm the
character and appearance of Ballantyne Place, but would not expect the
effect on the wider conservation area as a whole to be materially adverse.
Please see the DPEA Website for the full Appeal Decision Notice
3.2

Enforcements
Nil

3.3

Works to Trees
Nil

4

APPEALS OUTSTANDING
4.1

5

There remained no appeals previously reported on which decisions were
still awaited when this report was prepared on 18th June 2021. This
relates to sites at:

REVIEW REQUESTS RECEIVED
5.1

Reference:
Proposal:
Site:
Appellant:

21/00030/PPP
Erection of dwellinghouse with outbuildings and
associated work including new access
Land South West of Rachan Woodlands, Broughton
Mr J Warnock

Page 59

Planning & Building Standards Committee 28th June 2021

3

Reasons for Refusal: 1. The development would be contrary to policy
HD2 of the Local Development Plan 2016 and New Housing in the Borders
Countryside Guidance 2008 in that it would not relate sympathetically to
an existing building group and no overriding case for a dwellinghouse on
the site has been substantiated. The applicant has failed to demonstrate
that there exists no appropriate site within a building group and there is no
suitable existing house or other building capable of conversion for the
required residential use and no overriding case for a dwellinghouse on the
site has been substantiated. This conflict with the development plan is not
overridden by other material considerations. 2. The development would
be contrary to policy EP4 of the Local Development Plan 2016 in that it is
likely to have a significant adverse effect on the qualities for which the site
and its surroundings have been designated and no overriding case for a
dwellinghouse on this site within the Upper Tweeddale National Scenic
Area has been substantiated. This conflict with the development plan is
not overridden by other material considerations. 3. The development
would be contrary to policy EP10 of the Local Development Plan 2016 and
New Housing in the Borders Countryside Guidance 2008 in that proposed
house is not carefully sited and is not informed by and respectful of the
historic landscape structure. No overriding case for a dwellinghouse on
this site within the locally designated Rachan designed landscape has been
substantiated. This conflict with the development plan is not overridden
by other material considerations.
6

REVIEWS DETERMINED
6.1

Reference:
Proposal:
Site:
Appellant:

20/01236/FUL
Replacement windows
Angling Club, 5 Sandbed, Hawick
Hawick Angling Club

Reason for Refusal:
The proposal fails to comply with Policies PMD2 and
EP9 of the Scottish Borders Council Local Development Plan 2016, and
with the advice contained within the Supplementary Guidance: Shop
Fronts and Shop Signs 2011, in that its appearance has a significantly
adverse and unacceptable visual impact on the character of the building,
and is highly detrimental to the character and appearance of Hawick's
Conservation Area.

6.2

Method of Review:

Review of Papers & Further Written Submissions

Review Decision:
to Conditions)

Decision of Appointed Officer Overturned (Subject

Reference:
Proposal:
Site:
Appellant:

21/00045/FUL
Erection of dwellinghouse
Land East of The Bungalow Edington, Chirnside
Mr M Singh

Reason for Refusal:
The development would be contrary to policy HD2
of the Local Development Plan 2016 and the New Housing in the Borders
Countryside Supplementary Planning Guidance 2008 in that it would not
be well related to an existing building group of at least three houses or
buildings currently in residential use or capable of conversion to residential
use and would comprise sporadic development in a prominent countryside
location. In addition no overriding case for a dwellinghouse on the site has

Page 60

Planning & Building Standards Committee 28th June 2021

4

been substantiated. This conflict with the Local Development Plan is not
overridden by any other material considerations.

7

Method of Review:

Review of Papers

Review Decision:

Decision of Appointed Officer Upheld

REVIEWS OUTSTANDING
7.1




There remained 3 reviews previously reported on which decisions were still
awaited when this report was prepared on 18th June 2021. This relates to
sites at:
Linden, Causewayend, Ancrum,
Jedburgh
Land West of The Old Barn
Westwater, West Linton



Site East of Dogcraig Cottage
Scotsmill, Peebles



8 SECTION 36 PUBLIC LOCAL INQUIRIES RECEIVED
Nil
9 SECTION 36 PUBLIC LOCAL INQUIRIES DETERMINED
Nil
10 SECTION 36 PUBLIC LOCAL INQUIRIES OUTSTANDING
10.1



There remained one S36 PLI previously reported on which a decision was
still awaited when this report was prepared on 18th June 2021. This
relates to a site at:
Crystal Rigg Wind Farm,
Cranshaws, Duns



Approved by
Ian Aikman
Chief Planning & Housing Officer
Signature ……………………………………

Author(s)
Name
Laura Wemyss

Designation and Contact Number
Administrative Assistant (Regulatory) 01835 824000 Ext 5409

Background Papers: None.
Previous Minute Reference: None.

Page 61

Planning & Building Standards Committee 28th June 2021

5

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various
computer formats by contacting the address below. Jacqueline Whitelaw can also give
information on other language translations as well as providing additional copies.
Contact us at Place, Scottish Borders Council, Council Headquarters, Newtown St
Boswells, Melrose, TD6 0SA. Tel. No. 01835 825431 Fax No. 01835 825071
Email: PLACEtransrequest@scotborders.gov.uk

Page 62

Planning & Building Standards Committee 28th June 2021

6

